
City of Leawood 
Planning Commission Agenda 

July 23, 2019 
Dinner Session – 5:30 p.m. – No Discussion of Items 

Leawood City Hall – Main Conference Room 
Meeting – 6:00 p.m. 

4800 Town Center Drive 
Leawood, KS 66211 
913.339.6700 x 160 

 

 
CALL TO ORDER/ROLL CALL:   
McGurren, Hunter, Belzer, Hoyt, Elkins, Coleman, Block, Stevens, Peterson 
 

APPROVAL OF THE AGENDA:   
 
APPROVAL OF MINUTES:  
Approval of minutes from the June 25, 2019 Planning Commission meeting. 
 
CONTINUED TO THE AUGUST 27, 2019 PLANNING COMMISSION MEETING: 
CASE 16-19 – LEAWOOD DEVELOPMENT ORDINANCE AMENDMENT TO SECTION 16-4-9, FENCES AND WALLS 
– Request for approval of an amendment to the Leawood Development Ordinance, pertaining to fence location and 
fences within RP-A5 (Planned Rural Density Single Family Residential District).  PUBLIC HEARING 
 
CASE 74-19 – THE HILLS OF LEAWOOD VILLAS – Request for approval of a Preliminary Plan, Preliminary Plat, and 
Rezoning – Located north of 151st Street and east of Mission Road. PUBLIC HEARING 
 
CONSENT AGENDA: 
CASE 72-19 – LEAWOOD SUBDIVISION – LOT 674 – RESIDENTIAL EMERGENCY GENERATOR – Request for 
approval of a Final Landscape Plan – Located north of 86th Street and west of Lee Blvd. 
 
NEW BUSINESS: 
CASE 69-19 – RANCH MART – MCDONALD’S – Request for approval of a Special Use Permit for a fast food restaurant 
with drive-through, Preliminary Plan and Final Plan, located north of 95th Street and east of Mission Road.             
PUBLIC HEARING 
 
CASE 60-19 – LEAWOOD DEVELOPMENT ORDINANCE AMENDMENT TO SECTION 16-3-4, DEVELOPMENT PLAN 
APPROVAL PROCESS – Request for approval of an amendment to the Leawood Development Ordinance, pertaining to 
approvals to changes to an existing Final Development Plan. PUBLIC HEARING 
 
CASE 71-19 – LEAWOOD DEVELOPMENT ORDINANCE AMENDMENT TO SECTION 16-4-6.3, OFFICE, 
COMMERCIAL AND INDUSTRIAL SIGNAGE IN PLANNED DISTRICTS – Request for approval of an amendment to the 
Leawood Development Ordinance, pertaining to Governing Body approval of deviations to development sign criteria.  
PUBLIC HEARING 
 
 



ADJOURN REGULAR MEETING:   
Meetings will end at 9:00 p.m. unless the Commission votes to extend the meeting for a period of thirty (30) minutes.  An 
additional thirty (30) minute extension, for a maximum of two (2) extensions, may be voted by the Commission members. 
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The Leawood Planning Commission is a nine member non-partisan body whose members are appointed by the Mayor and confirmed by the Governing Body.  
  

The Planning Commission prepares the Comprehensive Plan that is used as a general guide for the development of the community.  The Comprehensive Plan is reviewed 
and updated annually as part of the commission's ongoing process of evaluating trends and patterns.  The Commission also reviews all zoning, special use permit, and site 
plan and plat applications prior to making recommendations to the governing body for final action.  
  

The regular scheduled public meetings of the Planning Commission are held at 6:00 PM on the fourth Tuesday of each month in the City Council chambers, 4800 Town 
Center Drive.  The Commission may also conduct a study session followed by a meeting on the second Tuesday of each month.  
  

Anyone wishing to appear on the Planning Commission agenda or study session agenda should contact Planning Services at (913) 339-6700.  
  

REZONING AND SPECIAL USE PERMIT PROCEDURES FOR LEAWOOD, KANSAS  

  

Newspaper publications: The city will be responsible for publishing the notice of public hearing in the official City newspaper not less than 20 days prior to the end of the 
public hearing.  
  

Posting of the sign: Upon submission of the application, the City will supply the applicant with a sign to be posted on the property.  The sign must be posted not less than 20 
days prior to the public hearing.  
  

Letters of notification: The applicant will be responsible for mailing notices by certified mail, return receipt requested, of the proposed zoning change to all land owners located 
within 200 feet of the area proposed to be altered.  These notices must be sent a minimum of 20 days prior to the Planning Commission hearing.  
  

Public hearing: The Planning Commission hears all zoning requests, hearing from the applicant and anyone in the audience wishing to speak for or against the proposal.  The 
Commission will then make a recommendation for approval or denial to the City Council or continue the application to another Planning Commission agenda.  The following is 
an outline of the public hearing process.  
  

1. Staff summarization of comments and recommendations.  

2. Applicant presentation and response to staff comments and recommendations.  

3. Public Hearing  

a. Anyone wishing to speak, either in favor or in opposition has an opportunity to speak.  

b. It is appreciated if the speakers keep repetition to a minimum.  

4. The applicant will have an opportunity to respond to points raised during the hearing.  

5. Planning Commission discussion.  

6. Motion and second by the Planning Commission.  

7. Planning Commission discussion of motion.  

8. Planning Commission vote on the motion.  

  

Protest period: Certain property owners may file a petition protesting the application within 14 days after the close of the Planning Commission public hearing. The petition 
must be signed by the owners of record of 20% or more of any real property proposed to be rezoned, or by the owners of record of 20% or more of the total real property 
within the area required to be notified in Article 16-5-4.1 of the proposed zoning of specific property, excluding streets and public ways and property excluded pursuant to 16-
5-4.3.  
  

City Council Action: After the protest period has concluded, the application will be placed on an agenda for a City Council meeting.  The Council may then take action on the 
proposal.  The Council may approve the Planning Commission’s recommendation, or it may amend and approve or remand the proposal to the Planning Commission for 
further consideration. 

Marc Elkins 

 
David Coleman 

 

Matt Block 

 

Doug Stevens 
 

Arthur Peterson 

Liz Hoyt 

 

Steve McGurren 

Mandi Hunter 

 

Stacey Belzer 

 

PLANNING COMMISSIONER’S 
SEATING CHART 



 

Leawood Planning Commission - 1 - June 25, 2019 

 

City of Leawood 

Planning Commission Meeting 

June 25, 2019 

Dinner Session – 5:30 p.m. – No Discussion of Items 

Leawood City Hall – Main Conference Room 

Meeting - 6:00 p.m. 

Leawood City Hall Council Chambers 

4800 Town Center Drive 

Leawood, KS 66211 

913.339.6700 x 160 

 

CALL TO ORDER/ROLL CALL: McGurren, Hunter, Belzer, Hoyt, Elkins, Coleman, 

Block, and Peterson. Absent: Stevens. 

 

APPROVAL OF THE AGENDA  

 

Chairman Elkins:  Does staff have any changes to the agenda? 

 

Mr. Klein:  No. 

 

A motion to approve the agenda was made by Coleman; seconded by Hoyt. Motion 

carried with a unanimous vote of 7-0. For: McGurren, Hunter, Belzer, Hoyt, 

Coleman, Block, Peterson. 

 

APPROVAL OF MINUTES: Approval of the minutes from the May 28, 2019 Planning 

Commission meeting. 

 

Chairman Elkins:  Thanks to Commissioner Hoyt for serving as Pro-Tem. I’m sure she 

enjoyed the experience. Are there any amendments to the draft? 

 

Comm. Coleman:  On pages 3, 5, and 6, Ms. Bennett was not the attorney that night; it 

was Ms. Knight. 

 

Chairman Elkins:  If there are no other amendments, I would accept a motion for 

approval. 

 

A motion to approve the minutes from the May 28, 2019 Planning Commission 

meeting was made by Hoyt; seconded by Belzer. Motion carried with a unanimous 

vote of 7-0. For: McGurren, Hunter, Belzer, Hoyt, Coleman, Block, Peterson. 

 

 

CONTINUED TO THE JULY 23, 2019 PLANNING COMMISSION MEETING:  

CASE 16-19 – LEAWOOD DEVELOPMENT ORDINANCE AMENDMENT TO 

SECTION 16-4-9, FENCES AND WALLS – Request for approval of an amendment to 
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the Leawood Development Ordinance, pertaining to fence location and fences within RP-

A5 (Planned Rural Density Single Family Residential District). PUBLIC HEARING  

 

CASE 71-19 – LEAWOOD DEVELOPMENT ORDINANCE AMENDMENT TO 

SECTION 16-4-6.3, OFFICE, COMMERCIAL AND INDUSTRIAL SIGNAGE IN 

PLANNED DISTRICTS – Request for approval of an amendment to the Leawood 

Development Ordinance, pertaining to Governing Body approval of deviations to 

development sign criteria. PUBLIC HEARING  

 

NEW BUSINESS:  
CASE 33-19 – REGENTS PARK MULTI-FAMILY SUBDIVISION – Request for 

approval of a Final Plan and Final Plat, located south of 135th Street and west of Kenneth 

Road.  

 

Staff Presentation: 

City Planner Ricky Sanchez made the following presentation: 

 

Mr. Sanchez:  This is Case 33-19 – Regents Park Multi-Family Subdivision – Request for 

approval of a Final Plan and Final Plat. The property is located south of 135th Street and 

west of Kenneth Road. A preliminary Plat for the 135th and Kenneth project was 

approved in December of last year. The application for this project deals with the 

residential portion of the project north and south of 137th Street, not including any of the 

mixed-use portions of that larger development. The applicant will be platting the entire 

135th and Kenneth Road project with this application, keeping the mixed-use portion of 

the development within open tracts until time of future development. Within the Regents 

Park subdivision portion of the project, each residential unit will then be platted as each 

building gets constructed. As the foundation gets poured, they will come back to the 

Planning Commission and record those plats. The Final Plan being proposed tonight 

includes 117 residential units within six tracts on 38.09 acres for a density of 3.06 

dwelling units per acre, in addition to a number of public improvements, including the 

construction of 137th Street from its existing terminus at Chadwick, which will then 

connect up to Kenneth Road, the construction of High Drive, a third lane onto 135th 

Street, and pedestrian connections, including a 10’ hike-bike trail with pedestrian-

demarcated crossings.  

 To describe the site a bit, the residential units are split along north and south sides 

of 137th Street. Four main entrances into the subdivision are proposed, all of which are 

cul de sacs. One of them comes off north of 137th Street, and three come off the south of 

137th Street. The applicant has proposed bioretention and detention ponds to be located 

on the east sides of the development south of the proposed 137th Street. Additional 

bioretention and detention areas are proposed within the southwest corner of the 

development along both sides of 137th Street. All of the bioretention and detention ponds 

are proposed to be dry basins. A 20’ tree preservation easement is proposed along the 

south side of the development to help screen the existing residential neighborhoods to the 

south. The applicant has also provided additional plantings close to the tree preservation 

easement to help infill some of the sections that aren’t totally filled in. 
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 Staff would like to point out two items. Regarding the bioretention and detention 

along the south side of 137th Street on the east side of the development, it is staff’s 

position that an amenity area could be created. During the Preliminary Plan for this 

project, it had been stipulated that the applicant and staff would work together to see if a 

wet detention basin or amenity area would be possible for this area. An amenity area with 

a water feature would help create an entrance into the subdivision and the development as 

a whole. Staff feels that creating this wet basin would be a great amenity, and the basin 

would be an opportunity and has the ability to be done reasonably. Staff has a request in 

Stipulation No. 13 that a permanent water feature be created in the current location of the 

cry detention basin. The second point staff would like to make is that an internal 

connection has been created by the applicant between the residential units. It is an 8’ 

asphalt pedestrian path that runs on the back sides of some of these units. Staff has 

requested in Stipulation No. 10 to see an additional connection made from the proposed 

trail up to the proposed amenity area within Tract C, which is a proposed second phase to 

this development and will be a community area in a future phase. This would allow 

residents of the development to have a direct path from their rear yards to this amenity. 

Staff has also placed a memo on the dais for you tonight with regard to the removal of 

Stipulation Nos. 31 and 33. Staff has worked with the applicant since the delivery of the 

packet to come to some agreement on these. Public Works also has a memo in there that 

they may discuss later on. With the removal of these stipulations, the last should be 

changed to read, “Stipulations 1-44.” The Final Plat and Final Plan meet the regulations 

of the Leawood Development Ordinance (LDO), and staff recommends approval of Case 

33-19 with the stipulations listed in the memo. Staff is happy to answer any questions. 

 

Chairman Elkins:  Thank you. Questions for staff? 

 

Comm. Block:  To confirm, the stipulation with the downspouts is to be removed as well 

as the source of the lighting? 

 

Mr. Sanchez:  Correct. 

 

Comm. Block:  Why is that different? I thought this was in most of these that we see. 

 

Mr. Sanchez:  Most of the times, it is. It was really part of the MX-D (Mixed-Use 

Development) portion of the whole project. When the MX-D portion comes in, it will 

include apartment complexes, office, and retail, those would apply. 

 

Comm. Block:  Could I get a summary of what has happened to this point on this? I know 

this started back in September. I didn’t get a chance to look all the way through the 

minutes. 

 

Mr. Klein:  We emailed the minutes from the previous case 71-18, which was the 135th 

Street and Kenneth project. That included not only this portion of the development, but it 

also had the MX-D portion located on the north side of 137th Street. That went through 

Planning Commission and City Council for approval for a Rezoning for the portion that 

was north of 137th Street, except for a portion of the RP-3 that you currently see in this 
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plan that is also north of 137th Street, RP-3 for the southern portion that was south of 

137th Street, and the portion they’re showing now in the southwest corner on the north 

side of 137th Street. The plan itself really hasn’t changed much from the time it was 

approved. The Planning Commission made a recommendation for denial originally with 

this application. City Council remanded it back to the Planning Commission, who then 

came back with another denial. From there, City Council approved the project more or 

less in the form you see now. Now, the MX-D portion of the project is not part of this 

final application. There are some public improvements being approved with this in 

addition to the RP-3 on the south side of 137th Street and the one that is in the southwest 

corner. Those include the construction of a third lane along 135th Street, including 

burying power lines, construction of High Drive as it extends from 135th Street down to 

137th Street, and the construction of 137th Street from Kenneth Road over to the terminus 

of where 137th Street currently ends at Chadwick. It was actually at the City Council 

meeting that the applicant made the offer to extend the street instead of just doing a cul 

de sac that terminates at the west end. 

 

Comm. Block:  The improvements to the roadways are all of these that we see on page 5? 

 

Mr. Klein:  Correct, including a third lane on 135th Street as well. 

 

Comm. Block:  That would be on the south side? 

 

Mr. Klein:  Yes, just adjacent to the property. 

 

Comm. Block:  The median cut down the road in the second phase is between the east-

west lanes would allow left turns into the development, then? Right now, there is a 

median just north of High Drive. This doesn’t line up with the street to the north of it, 

correct? 

 

Mr. Scovill:  It will eventually be a signalized, full-access intersection. 

 

Comm. Block:  But that is not part of this application. 

 

Mr. Scovill:  As part of this application, it adds the lane along 135th Street.  

 

Comm. Block:  There are drawings that reflect it, but I thought maybe it was a future 

phase. If you look at the aerial, you’ll see a median just to the north. Further in the 

packet, they show a turn lane in there.  

 

Mr. Scovill:  It doesn’t appear that there is a median break. There is not one there now, 

and I don’t believe there will be one with this phase of the development.  

 

Comm. Block:  We saw this as a total project with the mixed-use and other components 

to the north. Is this different? Why are we only seeing a portion of it now? Is that typical? 

Is it not? 
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Mr. Klein:  It actually is not uncommon with an overall development with part of it being 

phased. They have a common area located within Tract C, which is at the southern end of 

High Drive. That is supposed to be a future amenity for a pool in Phase 2. They will 

come back with a Final Plan for that. As far as Phase 3, what is shown on that colored 

plan as Tracts G and H would be included as the mixed-use portion of the development. 

 

Comm. Block:  I just flipped through. The page I was referring to is entitled “135th Street 

Improvements,” and it shows the median. That is a future phase; okay. 

 

Comm. McGurren:  I’m curious if 137th Street, when it extends over to Kenneth Road, is 

eventually designed that, when it hits Kenneth Parkway, to line up with the exit or 

entrance coming off the Target center.  

 

Mr. Coleman:  Target is another property to the east. 

 

Comm. McGurren:  I understand, but our property goes through what is listed as 

Leawood Market Center over to Kenneth Parkway on that first page. Is it the city’s 

intention that 137th will make it all the way over to Kenneth Parkway? 

 

Mr. Coleman:  Not necessarily. A lot of it will depend on Leawood Market Center 

development and how it develops. We don’t have a plan for it yet. 

 

Comm. McGurren:  So, it is not Leawood’s hope or desire that 137th Street makes it all 

the way over to what would be the state line almost. 

 

Mr. Klein:  Actually, that is a private drive. The last plan on Leawood Market Center has 

long since expired. As part of that plan, they showed an internal drive. It wasn’t supposed 

to be a public street.  

 

Comm. McGurren:  I’m also curious about the 8’ asphalt trail proposed throughout the 

interior portion of the development to the south of 137th Street. Is that the same standard 

and requirements that the city uses for its asphalt throughout the parks and other places?  

 

Mr. Klein:  This is a private trail for them. They did provide us detail that showed the 

amount of asphalt. I know we worked with the applicant. I’m not sure if it’s the actual 

one they use in city parks.  

 

Comm. McGurren:  I was just trying to remember if it was 8 or 10 feet that the city 

required. 

 

Mr. Klein:  Usually, for a hike-bike trail, we like to see 10 feet, but 8 feet is the 

minimum. The standards are getting wider. 

 

Chairman Elkins:  Are there other questions? This is either for Mr. Sanchez or Mr. Klein. 

We may have covered this in the earlier cases, but I’m curious to get staff’s perspective 
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on the extent to which this portion of the overall plan fits in with the 135th Street Corridor 

Plan. Are we moving in a fashion consistent with that part of the Comprehensive Plan? 

 

Mr. Klein:  This portion of the development is primarily a residential development. On 

the Comprehensive Plan, the portion south of 137th Street was shown to be Medium-

Density Residential. The difference we have in the Preliminary Plan was they shifted 

137th Street to the north, reducing the amount of area that was for the mixed-use on the 

north side of it. They also included some RP-3 zoning on the north side of 137th Street, 

which had all been shown MX-D before. At this point, the alignment has already been 

approved for the Preliminary Plan by City Council, so it does still have some of the MX-

D on the north side of 137th Street; it is just less than it was. It is in agreement with the 

approved Preliminary Plan. 

 

Chairman Elkins:  I understand that it is consistent with the approval from City Council. 

The question is about staff’s professional perspective on how consistent it is with the 

135th Street Corridor Plan. 

 

Mr. Klein:  Staff had always been very upfront about concerns that the overall plan with 

shifting 137th Street to the north reduced the mixed-use portion of the development was a 

concern with the 135th Street Community Plan. We were on record with that during the 

Preliminary Plan phase. 

 

Chairman Elkins:  You still have those reservations? I understand it is approved and there 

is not a lot we can do about it, but I just want to get your perspective. 

 

Mr. Coleman:  We still have those same concerns we had then. 

 

Chairman Elkins:  Thank you. Other questions for staff? 

 

Applicant Presentation: 

John Petersen, Polsinelli Law Firm, 6201 College Boulevard, Suite 500, Overland Park,  

appeared before the Planning Commission and made the following comments: 

 

Mr. Petersen:  Richard and Rick Lashburg, principles of the development entity, are here 

as well as Tim Tucker with Phelps Engineering, who has worked with us on a lot of the 

civil engineering. This is the first phase of the overall Preliminary Plan. It is very 

common for projects to be developed in phases. The good news is that on the back end of 

Phase 1, you will see the site and the table set for continued development. The entire site 

will be graded. Utilities will be brought for the villas and also for the mixed-use 

components. The street network will be completed in large part, and it is very common to 

activate a site with a villa component like we are proposing, and it sets the table for the 

commercial entities to see that there is activity. It is not only common; it is actually the 

most logical way to approach a project of this size and magnitude.  

I got a little confused because we kept dropping out stipulations, but my last count 

is 43 stipulations proposed by staff. I will tell you that we agree to 41 of those 43, and we 

have just two to talk about: Nos. 10 and 13. I’m going to generally preface our desire and 
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request to hopefully make the discussion clear and remain within the appropriate context. 

Nothing we are talking about with regard to these two stipulations addresses whether we 

do or do not adhere to the LDO or whether we are asking for some type of deviation from 

the ordinance or design standards. Both of these issues settle on preference of staff versus 

the property owner, who is spending millions of dollars on a high-quality project. With 

that background, I’ll move to the first issue, which is Stipulation No. 10. We were going 

to talk about building materials, but in the sense of cooperation, we worked that out 

before I came to the podium. 

 

Chairman Elkins:  Could you tell us the resolution of the building materials? 

 

Mr. Petersen:  We were going to use manufactured brick and stone but changed to natural 

to meet staff’s request. Stipulation No. 10 reads, “Prior to Governing Body consideration, 

the applicant shall provide an additional trail connection from the proposed trail within 

Tract B connecting to the future second phase of the project, which will include an 

amenity area.” As you know, we talked about the size and width. It is important to know 

that the green line, which is part of the Preliminary Plan approval, represents varying 

degrees and types of pedestrian access. On the south side of 137th Street will be a city 

bike-hike trail that we will construct to full standards of 10’ width. On the north side, we 

have a 6’ sidewalk interfacing directly with the mixed-use commercial area. As you can 

see, we have trails on both sides of all residential streets as they move down into the 

villas. Then, we add the looping one that is not the most efficient way to get anywhere, 

but it is another place to walk. It starts at the northeast portion and loops down and back 

to the northwest portion. Staff’s preference is we also build a trail down the middle of 

what we propose as an open green space. Their preference would be a trail; our 

preference is not to put a sidewalk of any kind. This has nothing to do with somebody’s 

ability to get to the amenity. Walking out of any of these units, you would have access to 

a sidewalk that is much closer and much more efficient than one that would be offered for 

those villas. We want this to remain as an open, undisturbed area. Quite honestly, some 

buyers like a trail going past their back yard; some don’t. We want to give that option to 

people to say they love the trail system but don’t want it in their back yard. This is a 

quality project. No one will be denied quick, easy access to any part of the project. We 

appreciate the suggestion, but we don’t want to do it for the reasons stated. With that, we 

would request Stipulation No. 10 be deleted. 

 The second one is No. 13. We’re going to talk about stormwater facilities. On the 

Site Plan in the northeast corner is the location where the Preliminary Plan shows the 

ability to control storm events in a dry detention basin. It is obviously designed so that 

water can be held for a period of time in the case of a storm event. These are all over the 

city. That is our preference, as we always stated. When it is not doing its scientifically 

engineering-based function of momentarily holding stormwater in a storm event, we saw 

it as another open grassy area and an amenity to the community. Staff indicated that they 

thought it would be a better, more aesthetic amenity as a wet detention. In other words, it 

would always have water in it so people could visualize a body of water as they are 

walking by. We said it was difficult, but we would look at it. Our conclusion is that it 

would not be nearly as nice as an amenity as what we proposed to do. Ours would have a 

bit more grade to the sides. We would have trails, places to sit, and a shade station when 
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it is not being used for its purpose of momentarily detaining water. That is the amenity 

we would like to see. It makes sense and works well. This is not a large area. When it is 

done, someone looking from the north side would look down 9 feet to see the surface. 

This is not at grade. If we went through the problems with keeping water in there, the 

surface of the water is about 7,000 square feet. This is not a half acre or a true, aesthetic 

amenity. We all know what comes, particularly with these small ones. It is silty. It needs 

an aerator. It comes with great cost and expense. The homeowners will need to maintain 

it. When it gets silted in, they get mad at the developer and the city. Our professional 

judgment is we can create an amenity that will serve our neighborhood well and be 

aesthetically pleasing without creating a body of water that is 7,000 square feet at its 

surface. This isn’t the driving part, but we would have to build a retaining wall in the bio 

swales through the grassy area. We would have to build it over a stormwater line. We 

would have to build another retaining wall in case a kid falls into the standing water. We 

would have to build a fence. It is hundreds of thousands of dollars to do that, and we 

think we are proposing a great amenity package that still functions and provides the 

benefits in terms of stormwater management. With that as background, we would ask that 

the stipulation be modified to read, “Prior to Governing Body consideration, the applicant 

shall modify the plans to show an amenity green space with manicured lawn, sidewalk, 

and seating opportunities.” We’ll bring in details to show how we will do the seating and 

the sidewalk. With that, we would ask for your support, including the modifications to 

the two stipulations. I’d be happy to answer any questions. 

 

Chairman Elkins:  Thank you. Questions for Mr. Petersen? 

 

Comm. Belzer:  Can you talk about a time frame for the other two tracts? 

 

Mr. Petersen:  They will be driven by the market. I know there has been interest. 

Honestly, based on my experience, you build the villas and the road, and the market will 

pick up interest. If the market is ready for it, then it could be there sooner than we 

probably speculate. 

 

Comm. McGurren:  Phase 2 with the pool and Tracts C, D, and E are how much later 

than Tracts A and B? 

 

Mr. Petersen:  Once we get the villas up, the answer from the applicant is a year or two. 

Once the villas start to sell, the amenities come in. There is some coordination between 

that amenity and the residents across the street, so we want to make sure how that is 

going to work and operate. 

 

Comm. McGurren:  Does staff ever place requirements on timing for second and third 

phases? 

 

Mr. Klein:  With this application for a Final Plan, they have to continue development of 

it. It is limited by Kansas statute to ten years from the time they do the plat. We used to 

have sunset clauses of five years; however, the state statute changed, so that stipulation 

changed. 
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Chairman Elkins:  Mr. Petersen, would you agree with that? 

 

Mr. Petersen:  Yes, it has been changed to ten years. 

 

Chairman Elkins:  Mr. Petersen, you showed a picture of the green space feature. At first, 

I thought you said it was an example of some other place in Leawood. Is it that, or is that 

a depiction of what you would expect this space to look like? 

 

Mr. Petersen:  The latter. 

 

Chairman Elkins:  You mentioned that, at some point in time, you would add to the plan, 

consistent with that stipulation, a sidewalk with the seating and shade. Where would you 

see that happening? Would it be before taking it to Governing Body? 

 

Mr. Petersen:  I think the stipulation speaks to before we get to Governing Body. That 

would be our intent. 

 

Chairman Elkins:  Thank you. Are there other questions? Thank you. That takes us to a 

discussion of this Final Plat and Final Plan for Phase 1. 

 

Comm. Coleman:  Going back to Mr. Petersen’s question on Stipulation No. 10 with the 

trail, he makes a valid point. Can you give more insight into wanting the stipulation on 

here? 

 

Mr. Sanchez:  With the trail connection, right now, the ends of the two points of the trail 

don’t really go anywhere; they just start on the south side of 137th Street. With that 

additional trail connection up to the amenity area, it then gives those two points a 

connector, a place to go. That is what staff is looking for.  

 

Comm. Coleman:  Can you give insight into the discussion on No. 13?  

 

Mr. Sanchez:  Creating a wet detention basin will allow for an amenity area or something 

to look at. Often times with these dry detention basins, they are just a shallow hole that is 

grass. It would create an amenity not just for this residential part of the development, but 

also the development as a whole. Really, this area where they’re proposing the detention 

and bioretention is where a lot of the existing trees were. Many trees are coming out with 

this. Staff would like to see a large amenity provided. 

 

Comm. Coleman:  To his point, it is just a preference to staff, then. 

 

Mr. Sanchez:  Correct; they do meet all the requirements of the LDO. This is staff’s 

preference to create a better amenity and better planning practice. 

 

Mr. Klein:  Leawood has always tried to make many connections. I think the developer 

did a great job coming down and doing the 8’ asphalt trail. We just thought it made a lot 
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of sense to have a trail where people could access directly. Additionally, it takes people 

to the common area with a connection that will eventually go to the mixed-use portion. 

That ties in to the water feature and everything we are asking for. As Mr. Petersen 

indicated, Continental Engineering looked at it, and they shared ideas with the applicant 

yesterday. The city wants to continue working with the applicant. In the original analysis 

that Continental did for us, they thought they could actually get the water up to 4-6 feet in 

height and have an aerator in there. It would still be down, but it would be visible from 

the sidewalk. Often times, water has an impact that other elements just don’t. That is part 

of the reason we wanted to see this.  

 

Chairman Elkins:  Thank you. Other comments? Mr. Petersen, I have another question. I 

should know this, but with respect to what I would call back yards and your point that 

some people don’t necessarily want a trail going through the back yard, how would the 

question of fencing be dealt with in this plan? If somebody in the third group of units 

decided to put in a fence, how would you regulate that? 

 

Mr. Petersen:  The city regulates it. There is no fencing. 

 

Chairman Elkins:  Fencing is absolutely prohibited under the LDO? Thank you. 

 

Mr. Petersen:  I don’t want to beat this horse to death, but this is a preference. Staff wants 

the looping. That loop really isn’t there primarily to get from A to B; it is another option 

for a little longer walk through the neighborhood. There are plenty of ways for folks to 

get from A to B. I emphasize that we have a trail in the back yards of many of these 

villas. We need a few that don’t have one. Is it the preference of those who are going to 

call this their neighborhood and their home. Since we did meet our points of ingress and 

egress and the bike-hike trail, I think the preference should go to the landowner that is 

investing in and creating a community. We met with staff six times on this plan and just 

heard about it Friday. We just don’t think it’s a good idea or that it will bring any higher 

level of quality to the project. 

 

Chairman Elkins:  Thank you. Mr. McGurren, did you have a comment? 

 

Comm. McGurren:  Mr. Petersen, when it comes to the bioretention or detention area that 

exists today in that same space, how does that compare in size and depth to what you 

would recommend when it comes to green space? Does it retain its current shape and 

size, or does it get lowered dramatically? 

 

Mr. Petersen:  There is not one there today; there is a creek. 

 

Comm. McGurren:  Where the trees are today, my secondary question is what is 

happening right now? How much water is being stored there today, or is it all draining? 

 

Mr. Petersen:  I would say it’s probably all just passing through in a natural state. When 

the site is developed, there may be sheeting water coming across grass and an undersized 

pipe under the road. We’re required, pursuant to the LDO, to bring discipline to our 
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water. Part of the case is we also bring discipline to water coming onto our site from 

other people’s properties. We’re creating a mechanism that will appropriately time the 

release of stormwater from storm events downstream. We’re not saving the world 

downstream, but the standard is we can’t make it any worse. I would suggest we are 

making it a little bit better. We are taking out some trees. We have to grade the site and 

bring utilities in. The opportunity to do some tree planting is going to be much greater in 

a swale, grassy area that people can play in. I would ask you to think about the times you 

have been on this board and have seen these ponds that end up being a problem for the 

neighbors. They silt in; the aerator quits work; it’s a big cost. We just don’t think it brings 

that much value to the table in terms of aesthetics because that is all we’re talking about. I 

just think the scale should tip in the favor of the person spending a lot of money to make 

a nice project. 

 

Comm. McGurren:  Given the retention area you’re proposing, the green space, and the 

lowering of the land, will the water end up destroying what is there, and would the 

homeowners be responsible for replacing that? 

 

Mr. Petersen:  The furniture could get wet, and with appropriate materials and planting, it 

would be designed to wear well. 

 

Comm. Hunter:  I understand the applicant’s statements about the trail because not 

everybody wants a trail in the back yard for privacy and safety reasons. For the basin, are 

there any other dry detention basins in any other developments in Leawood? 

 

Mr. Klein:  There are quite a few. Typically, they’re used for stormwater quality. They’ll 

have natural plant material included. Sometimes, they can look nice; sometimes, they can 

look weedy. This is located in a prominent corner at 137th Street and Kenneth Road, so 

staff was looking for something that could be good for the development and also 

something the overall community would see as well. 

 

Chairman Elkins:  Other comments or discussion? 

 

Comm. Block:  For what it’s worth, I was not a fan of the nonconformance to the 135th 

Street Corridor Plan back in September, and I’m still not. 

 

Chairman Elkins:  If there is no further discussion, does a commissioner care to put 

forward a motion? 

 

A motion to recommend approval of CASE 33-19 – REGENTS PARK MULTI-

FAMILY SUBDIVISION – Request for approval of a Final Plan and Final Plat, 

located south of 135th Street and west of Kenneth Road – with the following 

adjustments: strike Stipulation Nos. 10, 31, 33, and change No. 13 to read, “Prior to 

Governing Body consideration, the applicant shall modify the plans to show an 

amenity green space with manicured lawn, sidewalk, and seating opportunities” -

was made by Coleman; seconded by Belzer. 
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Mr. Scovill:  There was another memo provided by Public Works. I don’t believe the 

applicant is contesting any of those items, but I wanted to bring to your attention the three 

stipulations that changed from what was originally in your packet. Those may need to be 

in your motion. Those items include Item 2(c)3 of the Public Works memo, essentially 

changing the stipulation from requiring the developer to construct the full signal at the 

intersection of High and 135th Street to requiring them to provide an escrow payment in 

the amount of 50% of what we anticipate that signal cost to be because the residential 

component won’t necessarily warrant the full construction of that signal. The second item 

I should bring your attention to is Item 9: “The sidewalk and bike-hike trail shall be 

located within the right-of-way or sidewalk easement.” This has to do with requiring 6’ 

sidewalks along the main roads of 135th, 137th, and High Drive. We don’t require the 6’ 

sidewalk easements within the cul de sacs or the residential areas; those would be 5’ 

sidewalks. Then, Stipulation No. 10 is to clarify the requirement for the use of special 

streetlights. The city requires the special streetlights to be used on all the main roads 

between 135th and 137th. That wouldn’t apply to the subdivision road south of 137th. To 

create and maintain a consistent look of the subdivision, we wouldn’t suggest requiring 

those special streetlights on the one cul de sac that will exist north of 137th. We clarified 

that.  

 

Mr. Petersen:  We have no objection to any of those. 

 

Chairman Elkins:  The question I have on the last part is why is there a lack of uniformity 

on the streetlights? What is the justification for having one kind of street light on one cul 

de sac and another kind everywhere else? 

 

Mr. Scovill:  The city requires the special streetlights on the 135th Street Corridor, and 

that would include such streets as 133rd, 137th, and those north-south streets like High 

Drive. They are not required on the residential streets south of 137th. They do have one 

road that is north of 137th Street. We don’t feel that it would be appropriate to have an 

inconsistent look of that residential street. We’d still have the special streetlights on 137th 

but not on the cul de sac streets. 

 

Chairman Elkins:  Let me see if I’m following this correctly. If I look at the residential 

development, will the streetlights in the residential development all look the same? 

 

Mr. Scovill:  Yes, sir. 

 

Chairman Elkins:  And you’re in agreement with that comment? 

 

Mr. Petersen:  Yes, sir. 

 

Chairman Elkins:  Questions about this last-minute thing? Commissioner Coleman, 

would you care to amend your motion? I’m not going to ask you to restate it; I think the 

record is clear on what is being asked. 
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Motion amended to include the Public Works recommendations from the report 

dated June 25, 2019 – by Coleman; second amended by Belzer.  

 

Comm. Coleman:  I’d like to thank staff for doing this. I think you made some valid 

points, including these amenities in Stipulation Nos. 10 and 13, but I think the developer 

and the property owner do have a right to some latitude in what to do with the property. I 

give them latitude in proposing those changes.  

 

Comm. Hoyt:  I fundamentally agree with what Commissioner Coleman is saying; 

however, at the same time, from the first time we looked at this proposal, one of the big 

concerns was the creation of sense of place. I’ve interpreted some of these preferences to 

try to drive home the point that we’re looking for something within the amenities that is 

significant enough that it does create a sense of place and perhaps a sense of place that 

will be consistent throughout the entire development. I would like to go on the record 

urging the applicant to create whatever amenities end up within the Final Plan and 

whatever goes to Governing Body to be something that is significant enough and has 

impact on identity, for lack of a better term. 

 

Chairman Elkins:  Thank you. Are there any other comments on the pending amended 

motion and amended second. 

 

Motion approved with a vote of 6-1. For: McGurren, Hunter, Belzer, Hoyt, 

Coleman, and Peterson. Opposed: Block. 

 

CASE 41-19 – PARKWAY PLAZA – KIDDI KOLLEGE OFFICE/DAYCARE 

ADDITION – Request for approval of a Revised Preliminary Plan and Special Use 

Permit for a commercial daycare, located south of 134th Street and east of Briar Street. 

PUBLIC HEARING  
 

Commissioner Hunter recused herself from Case 41-19 

 

Staff Presentation: 

City Planner Ricky Sanchez made the following presentation: 

 

Mr. Sanchez:  This is Case 41-19 – Parkway Plaza – Kiddi Kollege Office/Daycare 

addition – Request for approval of a Revised Preliminary Plan and Special Use Permit for 

a commercial daycare, located south of 134th Street and east of Briar Street. The project 

will consist of an additional 5,450 square feet of building to be constructed on the same 

lot as the existing Kiddi Kollege within Parkway Plaza. The building will now house the 

Kiddi Kollege office space as well as additional room for their daycare. About 1/3 of the 

building will be dedicated to the daycare space needed, and the rest of the building will 

be used for the office. The Parkway Plaza development was originally passed with a 

Preliminary Plan showing a 3,500 sq. ft. office building in conjunction with the existing 

Kiddi Kollege building. Since there has been a change of more than 5% of the square 

footage from the plan that was approved, you are seeing this project as a Preliminary Plan 

this evening. A sidewalk is proposed between the proposed building and the existing 
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building. The sidewalk is gated and may only be accessed to allow for people to go from 

one building to another. There are fences that will gate anyone from the outside of the 

existing sidewalks around the perimeter of the lot. The applicant plans on removing five 

on-street parking spaces to the east of the proposed office/daycare building to help 

provide additional open space. A cross-access parking agreement was established with 

this development, and the number of parking spaces still meets the requirement of the 

LDO. No changes are proposed to the existing parking lot to the south of the proposed 

and existing building. The applicant has provided preliminary elevations and is proposing 

to closely match what is existing at the Kiddi Kollege. The Preliminary Plan and Special 

Use Permit for a commercial daycare meet the regulations of the LDO. Staff recommends 

approval of Case 41-19 with the stipulations listed in the report. 

 

Chairman Elkins:  Thank you. Questions for staff? 

 

Comm. Block:  I don’t know that I understood the parking. I know it conforms, but there 

are not enough spaces in the front. Is it because of the agreement with the larger complex 

that they are able to hit the required number? 

 

Mr. Sanchez:  That is correct. With the parking spaces that they currently have, they 

would not meet the requirement if they were their own development; however, since the 

whole development was done at one time, they are able to use the parking from other 

areas to make it work.  

 

Chairman Elkins:  Other questions for staff? Mr. Sanchez, in the Elevations comment 

there is a reference to the expansion, including cast stone. This continues to be an issue as 

a building material that confuses me because it was obviously an issue in the prior case, 

but you had it resolved. I wasn’t able to expand my understanding any further there. 

When we talk about cast stone, I take it that’s a manufactured stone product. 

 

Mr. Klein:  It is a manufactured stone product. It is a bit different. It has different 

properties and is typically used in features like sills on a building or accents. It is much 

stronger than cultured stone. The difference is that it tries to look like this natural stone. 

Often, they’ll have concrete and will bond a color to the face of it. Over time, that color 

wears off and fades. If it breaks, that color isn’t running throughout the entire process; 

whereas, if the cast stone breaks, it is the same all the way through and has the look of 

sandstone or something like that.  

 

Chairman Elkins:  Is there a difference in terms of either one being approved on a 

commercial space as opposed to a residential space?  

 

Mr. Klein:  Staff has always been comfortable with cast stone, and it’s probably 

something we’ll bring in. 

 

Mr. Coleman:  We’re working on providing some detailed information to the commission 

on manufactured versus cast stone. 
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Chairman Elkins:  There are really three buckets: cast stone, manufactured stone, and 

natural stone. 

 

Mr. Coleman:  Correct, and just for example, the Cast Stone Institute provides for certain 

pounds per square inch and also absorption rates for water absorption. They’re a much 

higher standard than manufactured products, which are more like a soft concrete with a 

PSI of 2,500. Cast stone is 6,000 and up. Real stone used for building stone like 

limestone is 10,000-11,000 PSI. That gives some indication. The water absorption is also 

about half of what manufactured stone would be. 

 

Chairman Elkins:  Does the LDO speak to the use of any of these three? 

 

Mr. Coleman:  It does in the sense that stone is listed as an approved building material, 

but manufactured stone is not. 

 

Chairman Elkins:  It doesn’t list cast stone, either, does it? 

 

Mr. Coleman:  I don’t believe it does, but we’re working to rectify all that.  

 

Chairman Elkins:  Currently, even cast stone is not shown as an approved building 

material. 

 

Mr. Coleman:  I believe that is correct. 

 

Chairman Elkins:  Does that create an issue for us being within our authority to approve it 

if it’s not an approved building material? 

 

Mr. Coleman:  I don’t know that it does.  

 

Chairman Elkins:  Let’s have the discussion, and perhaps we’ll have additional 

discussion after the presentation. Any other questions for staff? 

 

Applicant Presentation: 

Jeff Schroeder, Sharhag Architects, 6247 Brookside Boulevard, KC, MO, appeared 

before the Planning Commission and made the following comments: 

 

Mr. Schroeder:  I’m here representing the applicant. The civil engineer for the project is 

also here for any questions if that need arises. I’ll try to be even simpler. We’re in 

agreement with all 23 stipulations. I think this will be a good development that matches 

the existing building. The cast stone in this case is going to be used as very thin accent 

strips around the building. The base of the building will be actual stone material with 

brick above it, but then to split between those two materials, it would be a narrow band of 

cast stone. It is a good material, as Mr. Coleman said. All the materials will be the same 

as what is on the Kiddi Kollege building, so it will match that. They have a good track 

record of development. They’ve been a good neighbor there. They have these similar 

types of buildings now in Lenexa, Overland Park, and Olathe. They decided they wanted 
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to have Leawood as the office location now that they are big enough that they need a 

dedicated office space. The daycare is growing, also, so as staff said, there is one room 

that would be used for older children in the back of the building. It would have a fenced, 

gated connection and sidewalk to the existing building, and there will not be any new 

playground equipment. Anything outside around the building will be green, landscaped 

space. We’d be glad to answer any questions if you’ve got any.  

 

Chairman Elkins:  Thank you. Questions for the applicant?  

 

Comm. Block:  To clarify, you say that the outside of the building next door is exactly 

the same with the banding. You said it’s natural stone and then a band of the cast stone 

and brick. 

 

Mr. Schroeder:  Yes, sir.  

 

Chairman Elkins:  The cast stone materials is in the current building. 

 

Mr. Schroeder:  It is. 

 

Chairman Elkins:  Other questions for the applicant? Because part of this case is an 

application for a Special Use Permit, we’ll open a Public Hearing. 

 

Public Hearing 

 

As no one was present to speak, a motion to close the Public Hearing was made by 

Hoyt; seconded by Block, Motion carried with a unanimous vote of 7-0. For: 

McGurren, Hunter, Belzer, Hoyt, Coleman, Block, Peterson. 

 

Chairman Elkins:  That takes us to a discussion of the case in general. Are there 

comments? 

 

Mr. Sanchez:  I just wanted to make note that this is a Preliminary Plan, so they will 

come back with a Final Plan and give detail into the locations of the exact materials and 

more depth into the materials being used. 

 

Chairman Elkins:  Thank you. I still have a mild reservation about whether this is an 

approved material. To the extent that we’ve had this discussion at great length in the past, 

the fact that the current building already has it helps me a little bit. 

 

Mr. Coleman:  There is a short list of prohibited materials, and it is not on there. 

 

Ms. Bennett:  In the section of permitted materials, it just has stone. It doesn’t say natural 

stone. Historically, it has been interpreted to include cast stone. 

 

Chairman Elkins:  Does the short list of prohibited materials include manufactured stone? 
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Mr. Coleman:  No. 

 

Chairman Elkins:  Thank you. Are there other comments? Does anyone care to make a 

motion? 

 

A motion to recommend approval of CASE 41-19 – PARKWAY PLAZA – KIDDI 

KOLLEGE OFFICE/DAYCARE ADDITION – Request for approval of a Revised 

Preliminary Plan and Special Use Permit for a commercial daycare, located south of 

134th Street and east of Briar Street – with 23 Stipulations – was made by Block; 

seconded by Peterson. Motion carried with a unanimous vote of 6-0. For: 

McGurren, Belzer, Hoyt, Coleman, Block, Peterson. (Hunter recused from the vote) 

 

CASE 59-19 – TOWN CENTER PLAZA – CHASE BANK – Request for approval of a 

Revised Final Plan, located north of 119th Street and east of Nall Avenue.  

 

Commissioner Hunter rejoined the meeting. 

 

Staff Presentation: 

City Planner Jessica Schuller made the following presentation: 

 

Ms. Schuller:  This is Case 59-19 – Town Center Plaza – Chase Bank – Request for 

approval of a Revised Final Plan. Chase Bank is located at the corner of 119th Street and 

Roe Avenue. A Final Plan was approved in March, 2019, including the Site Plan changes 

and changes to the former Dean & Deluca building. The applicant would like to modify 

the mullions that are located above the canopies at the corners of the building. Currently, 

those windows are divided into a square pattern. The applicant proposes to remove that 

square pattern and replace it with a three-panel window system with a larger central 

window to accommodate future signage, which would be set back a minimum of 3 feet 

from the window; however, no signage is approved with this application. The proposed 

plan is in compliance with the LDO, and staff recommends approval with the stipulations 

in the Staff Report. 

 

Chairman Elkins:  Questions for staff? Ms. Schuller, this is a little off the wall, but it 

struck me in this case. As I understand it, this is the old Dean & Deluca building, which 

is at 119th and Roe to my reckoning. Why do we describe this as being north of 119th 

Street and east of Nall? That is obviously accurate, but it is actually west of Roe. 

 

Ms. Schuller:  It just carried over from the previous plan, so we kept it consistent. 

 

Chairman Elkins:  Thank you. Are there further questions for staff? 

 

Applicant Presentation: 

Bruce LaSurs, Core States Group, 6500 Chippewa Street, St. Louis, MO, appeared before 

the Planning Commission and made the following comments: 
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Mr. LaSurs:  Thank you for the opportunity to present this revision for the Final Plan. We 

intend to improve the building. We’re working with the existing contemporary building 

to essentially take a window that has 32 panes and exchange it for a window that has 

three panes. We will increase the glazing and natural light and reduce the shadow created 

by the aluminum storefront. We are not changing the overall opening. The rough 

masonry opening stays the same in both instances. 

 

Chairman Elkins:  Do you have any objection to the five recommended stipulations? 

 

Mr. LaSurs:  Is it different from the previous? If they’re the same, I have no objections. 

This is mostly just an effort to create more natural light and rebrand the building for the 

new tenant. We’d like more emphasis on the corner towers of the building and to reduce 

the horizontal effect of the multiple small panes. 

 

Chairman Elkins:  Thank you. Questions? 

 

Comm. Coleman:  I noticed that the building is going to have two tenants, one being 

Chase Bank. I noticed only one opening on the drawings. Is the intent that one side of the 

building will not have an entrance directly outside? 

 

Mr. LaSurs:  There is a direct entrance for the new tenant on the south elevation. The 

primary entrance for Chase Bank is on the east elevation. I think there were some 

modifications in the doorways that were proposed and approved in the original Final 

Plan. 

 

Comm. Coleman:  The south entrance looks like it’s elevated with some stairs and a ramp 

on one side. 

 

Mr. LaSurs:  There were some modifications to make it ADA compliant and accessible 

for the entrance. 

 

Comm. Coleman:  Do you have a tenant? 

 

Mr. LesSeurs:  The expectation is that it will be other divisions of the bank, but that is not 

certain at this point. 

 

Chairman Elkins: Thank you. Other questions? This takes us to a discussion. Any 

comments? 

 

Comm. Peterson:  The building is definitely closer to Roe than Nall. 

 

Chairman Elkins:  I appreciate that. I would entertain a motion. 

 

A motion to recommend approval of CASE 59-19 – TOWN CENTER PLAZA – 

CHASE BANK – Request for approval of a Revised Final Plan, located north of 

119th Street and east of Nall Avenue – with five stipulations – was made by Hoyt; 
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seconded by McGurren. Motion carried with a unanimous vote of 7-0. For: 

McGurren, Hunter, Belzer, Hoyt, Coleman, Block, Peterson. 

 

CASE 48-19 – LEAWOOD DEVELOPMENT ORDINANCE AMENDMENT TO 

SECTION 16-4-7, LANDSCAPING AND SCREENING REQUIREMENTS – Request 

for approval of an amendment to the Leawood Development Ordinance, pertaining to 

required tree replacement and the spacing of street and ornamental trees. PUBLIC 

HEARING  
 

Staff Presentation: 

Assistant Director Mark Klein made the following presentation: 

 

Mr. Klein:  This is Case 48-19 – Leawood Development Ordinance Amendment to 

Section 16-4-7, Landscaping and Screening Requirements. It contains three parts. The 

first two parts are fairly simple as far as the required ratio of street trees and ornamental 

trees along public rights-of-way. Whenever you see a plan come before you, there are 

certain requirements that have to be met in the buffer between the right-of-way line and 

to where the building is, or if there is parking adjacent to it, within that parking. It 

basically requires 40 feet between a building and right-of-way or 25 feet between parking 

lot and right-of-way. Currently, we have a ratio of one tree per 35 feet to be planted along 

the public rights-of-way. At one point, it was 40 feet, and before that, it was 50 feet. We 

changed it to 35 feet. We’re actually proposing that we adjust it back to 40 feet. We are 

looking at large street trees, so we want to provide enough room for them to grow and 

create an adjusted look. Additionally, the city code was changed to 40 feet for large street 

trees. We are trying to bring the LDO into agreement. The other ratio that is changed is 

that of ornamental trees, which are currently required to be planted at a rate of one per 12 

lineal feet. Additionally, shrubs are to be planted at a ratio of one per five lineal feet. This 

has gotten tight for developments, especially if parking is adjacent to the right-of-way. 

We are proposing to scale back the ornamental trees from one per twelve to one per 

twenty. This will allow more spacing between the trees so they can mature and not 

obscure the buildings. The third component of this amendment addresses replacement of 

trees. Currently, the LDO requires any tree larger than 12 inches in caliper must be 

replaced on a 1:1 per caliper inch basis. It can be several trees that have caliper sizes that 

add up to that 12’ requirement. We have run into situations with significant requirements 

for the landscaping itself. Whenever we run into a property that has a decent number of 

existing trees, especially if it they have trees with large calipers, replacing them on a 1:1 

per caliper inch basis, it is almost impossible to fit the landscaping on the site in a healthy 

way. This amendment proposes a threshold of 132 caliper inches of trees that are larger 

than 12’ caliper, they may replace those trees at half the rate they would be replaced 

otherwise. Staff recommends approval of this amendment. I would be happy to answer 

any questions. 

 

Chairman Elkins:  Questions for Mr. Klein? 

 

Comm. McGurren:  How long have the existing requirements been at those footages? 
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Mr. Klein:  I think they were in existence since the start of this ordinance since the end of 

2002. We typically don’t see many lots that have a large number of trees; however, if 

there is one, it can actually add up to a lot of replacement caliper inches. We have many 

lots to be developed that have a lot of trees.  

 

Comm. Block:  Is there somewhere within the LDO that has a listing of what a street tree 

is versus an ornamental tree? 

 

Mr. Klein:  Article 4 talks about street trees. I don’t believe we have a definition in 

Article 9.  

 

Comm. Block:  Should we have one? 

 

Mr. Klein:  Street tree is actually a shade tree. 

 

Comm. Block:  Should that be included in this somehow? Is there a common definition of 

a shade tree so someone would know? 

 

Mr. Klein:  Let me check to make sure. I don’t see it in Article 9 right now. We can come 

back with that and tighten it up. 

 

Chairman Elkins:  Other questions? I think I see why and what we’ve done. The sub-

paragraphs elsewhere in the LDO have a Section E and numbered subsections under this. 

In this one, we have Section E with subsections designated by capital letters. That is a 

little confusing. I think I know why they city did it that way, but I’m having difficulty 

reconciling the new section at the beginning of E, especially the accommodation of the 

provision and the exception, against EH that relates to this whole business of the 12’ 

caliper tree being replaced by a 1:1 ratio with the exception. Would you mind going 

through that one more time and explaining what the beginning of E does as compared to 

what EH does? 

 

Mr. Klein:  Originally, replacement trees were located under Landscape Plan 

Requirements (Section H). That was problematic in the fact that it threw in a requirement 

to replace in a section of the ordinance that was stating what needed to be included on the 

plan. That was moved out of that section and included as E under Section 16-4-7.3 to 

address a standalone requirement of tree replacement. This is an actual requirement and 

not something to do a tree inventory for. We wanted to ensure the plan still had the 

requirement to show the 12’ caliper trees. We also added how they will be measured in 

Section 16-4-7.5(H). The measurement will be taken from 4 ½ feet. 

 

Chairman Elkins:  Let me see if I’m tracking this correctly. The starting point is that if a 

tree is larger than 12’ caliper and has to be removed, it gets replaced on a 1:1 caliper inch 

ration except where a city arborist determines that there is not enough space there to 

support the 1:1 ratio, and then we go to this 50% of the qualifying caliper inches. Is that 

correct? 
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Mr. Klein:  Yes, and it does have a threshold of 132 caliper inches.  

 

Chairman Elkins:  Tell me one more time what H does. 

 

Mr. Klein:  H is more related to the plan. When we get applications, we require the 

landscape plan to be part of that. The whole section lists the components that must be 

included in the landscape plan. H adds more specificity. 

 

Chairman Elkins:  Thank you. 

 

Comm. Hoyt:  Back to your question about the difference between a street tree and 

ornamental tree, it could be that you could easily add one or two sentences under 16-4-

7.3(a) – General because the LDO sort of implies what the definition is in subpoints 1 

and 2.  

 

Mr. Klein:  We also have a list that the Parks Department has put on the city’s website 

that lists trees allowed to be used as street trees.  

 

Chairman Elkins:  Other questions? Because this is an amendment to the LDO, a Public 

Hearing is required. 

 

Public Hearing 

 

As no one was present to speak, a motion to close the Public Hearing was made by 

Hoyt; seconded by Coleman. Motion carried with a unanimous vote of 7-0. For: 

McGurren, Hunter, Belzer, Hoyt, Coleman, Block, Peterson. 

 

Chairman Elkins:  That takes us to a discussion of the proposed amendment to the LDO. 

Are there comments? I would entertain a motion. 

 

A motion to recommend approval of CASE 48-19 – LEAWOOD DEVELOPMENT 

ORDINANCE AMENDMENT TO SECTION 16-4-7, LANDSCAPING AND 

SCREENING REQUIREMENTS – Request for approval of an amendment to the 

Leawood Development Ordinance, pertaining to required tree replacement and the 

spacing of street and ornamental trees – was made by Coleman; seconded by Belzer. 

Motion carried with a unanimous vote of 7-0. For: McGurren, Hunter, Belzer, Hoyt, 

Coleman, Block, Peterson. 

 

CASE 61-19 – THREE HALLBROOK PLACE – OFFICE BUILDING – Request for 

approval of a Final Plan and Final Plat, located south of College Boulevard and west of 

State Line Road.  

 

Staff Presentation: 

City Planner Ricky Sanchez made the following presentation: 
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Mr. Sanchez:  This is Case 61-19 – Three Hallbrook Place – Office Building - Request 

for approval of a Final Plan and Final Plat, located south of College Boulevard and west 

of State Line Road. The Preliminary Plan was approved for this project in November of 

last year by Governing Body. With this case, the applicant is proposing a new four-story 

office building totaling 120,520 square feet. The building will be located along the 

northeast corner of the property with property surrounding the south and west sides. Tract 

A is located on the southwest corner of the site and will remain as an existing BMP (Best 

Management Practice) for both 2 Hallbrook Place and 3 Hallbrook Place. Two main 

entries are proposed off Overbrook Road. The applicant is proposing two plaza areas with 

this project. One plaza area is located along the western entrance of the building. The 

second plaza area is located on the northwest corner of the building. Both plaza areas will 

be landscaped with shrubs and trees, along with seating walls and lit bollards. Two 

pedestrian connections are proposed from the building, connecting to State Line Road 

and College Boulevard. The building is proposed to be 59 feet, 6 inches tall and 

constructed mainly of a glass storefront system with walled paneling in grey accent, 

accented with masonry brick veneer. A trash enclosure and generator are located along 

the south sides of the building within a gated brick enclosure. The current LDO requires 

that the applicant replace the existing trees onsite at the 1:1 caliper ratio. With the 

approval of the case we just heard, they would meet the criteria of 132 calipers per acre, 

noting that they would have to replace at a 1:2 caliper inch ratio. The Final Plan and Final 

Plat meet the regulations of the LDO, pending the approval of Case 48-19 by Governing 

Body. Staff recommends approval of Case 61-19 with the stipulations listed in the Staff 

Report, and I’d be happy to answer any questions. 

 

Chairman Elkins:  Questions for staff? 

 

Comm. Block:  Were there any changes with this application? 

 

Mr. Sanchez:  Not much. A lot of it had to do with the landscaping, and that’s what 

pushed the last LDO amendment. They had over 1,000 caliper inches of trees on their 

site. We worked with the applicant, and it was hard to get all those trees replaced on a 1:1 

ratio. We worked on the amendment and their Site Plan to meet both.  

 

Comm. Block:  I thought I remembered an issue with parking as well and banking some 

parking. Was that approved in the Preliminary Plan? 

 

Mr. Sanchez:  It was approved without needing banking. 

 

Chairman Elkins:  Other questions? 

 

Applicant Presentation: 

David Rezac, Van Trust Real Estate, 4900 Main, Suite 400, Kansas City, MO, appeared 

before the Planning Commission and made the following comments: 

 

Mr. Rezac:  I’m joined tonight by our architect Burns & McDonnell, our civil engineer 

Phelps Engineering, and landscaping designer BBN. 3 Hallbrook Place is located on an 
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8.56-acre parcel that is bordered by State Line Road on the east, College Boulevard on 

the north, Overbrook Road on the west, and an adjacent Hallbrook parcel on the south. 

As was mentioned, it is a four-story office building with a little over 120,000 square feet. 

We do have 467 cars surface parked to the west and south of the building. The building is 

sited on the high end of the site, which creates great presence and holds the primary 

intersection. Per the LDO, the project will be landscaped with many new trees, shrubs, 

and ground cover to seamlessly fit into the Hallbrook development. Additionally, an 

entry plaza that Mr. Sanchez mentioned with landscaped seating areas and specialty 

paving and lighting is intended to enhance the pedestrian experience. 3 Hallbrook Place is 

an office building with clean lines and materials, subtle scale, and appropriate 

proportions. This modern office building is a perfect complement to 1 and 2 Hallbrook 

Place and the rest of the Hallbrook development. From a schedule perspective, we will 

begin pre-leasing activity once we receive our FDP approvals, hopefully next month. Our 

hope would be to begin construction no later than spring 2020 to complete by the summer 

of 2021. We’ve worked diligently with planning staff to ensure our submittal aligns with 

the design requirements of the LDO. We appreciate their assistance and support getting to 

tonight. We have read and agree to all 35 stipulations in the Staff Report. 

 

Chairman Elkins:  Thank you. Questions for the applicant? 

 

Comm. McGurren:  Is there anything you can say about pending tenants? 

 

Mr. Rezac:  We’ll begin pre-leasing right after we get approval from City Council for the 

Final Plan on July 1st. We haven’t even gone to market yet, but we think there is good 

activity for office tenants out there. We think this is going to be a fantastic site. If you 

know anybody, let me know. 

 

Comm. McGurren:  I was just curious as it related to the Ascend building with the tenant 

there and the length of time that sat empty. Some of that was related to the recession, but 

it was probably four years. 

 

Mr. Rezac:  I think that building came online in 2008 at absolutely the worst time. 

Hopefully, we’re hitting the market at a better time. 

 

Comm. McGurren:  I have been on the Parks and Recreation board, and my recollection 

was there has been discussion of a significant art piece on the corner of College and State 

Line. I was curious if space had been allotted for something like that. 

 

Mr. Rezac:  Not that I’m aware of. The way our building sits off the side and terraces 

down from the intersection, I think there is an opportunity for something to happen on the 

corner. We would welcome that. 

 

Chairman Elkins:  As a passing thought, does your client own the property to the north of 

College? 

 

Mr. Rezac:  Yes, they do. 
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Chairman Elkins:  Any other questions for Mr. Rezac? Thank you. That takes us to a 

discussion. Any comments? 

 

A motion to recommend approval of CASE 61-19 – THREE HALLBROOK PLACE 

– OFFICE BUILDING – Request for approval of a Final Plan and Final Plat, 

located south of College Boulevard and west of State Line Road – with 35 

stipulations – was made by Hoyt; seconded by McGurren. Motion carried with a 

unanimous vote of 7-0. For: McGurren, Hunter, Belzer, Hoyt, Coleman, Block, 

Peterson. 

 

CASE 62-19 – HOMESTEAD OF LEAWOOD ASSISTED LIVING FACILITY – 

Request for approval of a Revised Landscape Plan, located south of 127th Street and west 

of State Line Road.  

 

Staff Presentation: 

City Planner Jessica Schuller made the following presentation: 

 

Ms. Schuller:  This is Case 62-19 – Homestead of Leawood Assisted Living Facility – 

Request for approval of a Revised Landscape Plan, located south of 127th Street and west 

of State Line Road. The Preliminary Plan, Final Plan, and Special Use Permit was just 

approved this past June. The applicant is requesting to revise the Landscape Plan to meet 

the new requirements for street and ornamental trees, pending Governing Body approval 

of Case 48-19. The original plan that you saw showed street trees at one per 35 feet and 

one ornamental tree per 12 lineal feet. Their site had some existing mature street trees, 

and it was difficult for the applicant to plant the required number of trees. They are 

coming back to us to reduce the number of street trees to one per 40 lineal feet and the 

ornamentals to one per 20 lineal feet to allow greater long-term health and viability of 

those trees. Staff recommends approval of Case 62-19 with the stipulations in the Staff 

Report, and I’d be happy to answer any questions you may have.  

 

Chairman Elkins:  Thank you. Questions for staff?  

 

Comm. Belzer:  I think there is a mistake in the date as it was written: June 17, 2019 for 

when we approved. 

 

Ms. Schuller:  Yes, that should be different. It was a couple months ago, I believe. This 

was the Governing body date. You recommended it, and they approved it June 17th. You 

would have seen it probably on May 28th.  

 

Chairman Elkins:  So, it was approved by the Governing Body on June 17th. 

 

Ms. Schuller:  Correct; I’ll add that note.  

 

Comm. Block:  It wasn’t clear to me from the rendering; are they starting over, or what is 

new on this plan? 
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Ms. Schuller:  The plan is remaining substantially the same with the exception of the 

trees along State Line Road. That is just to reduce a handful of ornamentals and a handful 

of street trees. I didn’t provide the original plan with this, but those were the only 

changes.  

 

Chairman Elkins:  Any other questions?  

 

Applicant Presentation: 

Lauren Fitzpatrick, 2231 Southwest Wanamaker Road, Topeka, KS, appeared before the 

Planning Commission and made the following comments: 

 

Ms. Fitzpatrick:  Thanks for having us. Leawood is busy with some big projects. Good 

for you guys. This one is not so big. Like Ms. Schuller said, we are just going in for an 

amendment based on their recommendation on revising street tree numbers. We do have 

some existing substantial maple trees that were planted back when the ordinance had 

them at a distance of 40 feet. Now, with it being at 35 feet, it required significantly more 

shade trees and ornamental trees. It was going to be really difficult for us to cram all that 

in there. We felt they would not survive the conditions, considering the quantity and the 

space provided. We are, I think, doing a great job of providing a nice landscaped area. 

We are also providing a new screen wall against the parking area so that the parking is 

not visible from the street. The focus is the trees, shrubs, and building. We are doing a 

substantial amount of work on the building. We’re replacing all the exterior finishes with 

brand new ones that are up to the new code, so we would like those to be seen, too. 

 

Chairman Elkins:  Thank you. Questions for Ms. Fitzpatrick? Staff has recommended a 

total of nine stipulations to the approval of this case. Do you have any objections to 

those? 

 

Ms. Fitzpatrick:  I do not. We meet them all. 

 

Chairman Elkins:  Thank you, and thank you for your patience. This takes us to 

discussion of the proposed plan.  

 

A motion to recommend approval of CASE 62-19 – HOMESTEAD OF LEAWOOD 

ASSISTED LIVING FACILITY – Request for approval of a Revised Landscape 

Plan, located south of 127th Street and west of State Line Road – with nine 

stipulations – was made by Belzer; seconded by Hoyt. Motion carried with a 

unanimous vote of 7-0. For: McGurren, Hunter, Belzer, Hoyt, Coleman, Block, 

Peterson. 

 

Chairman Elkins:  Is there any additional business to come before the commission 

tonight? 
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Comm. Coleman:  I’d just like to mention that Commissioner McGurren and I attended 

the Mid-America Regional Council (MARC) 2019 regional assembly on June 14th 

representing the commission at the City of Leawood table. 

 

Chairman Elkins:  Thank you. Any news to come back from the MARC meeting? 

 

Comm. Coleman:  No news; it is just always a very interesting meeting because everyone 

in the greater Kansas City area is there, including all the local municipality leaders. I did 

run in to former commissioner Kip Strauss there as well, representing the City of 

Overland Park.  

 

Chairman Elkins:  Thank you; we appreciate it. 

 

 

MEETING ADJOURNED 
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City of Leawood Planning Commission Staff Report 
 
MEETING DATE:    July 23, 2019 
REPORT WRITTEN:   July 8, 2019 
 

LEAWOOD SUBDIVISION – LOT 674 – RESIDENTIAL EMERGENCY GENERATOR – REQUEST FOR 
APPROVAL OF A FINAL LANDSCAPE PLAN – Located north of 86th Street and west of Lee Blvd.   –
Case 72-19    **CONSENT AGENDA** 

 
STAFF RECOMMENDATION:   
Staff recommends approval of Case 72-19, Leawood Subdivision – Lot 674 – Residential Emergency 
Generator request for approval of Final Landscape Plan, with the stipulations outlined in the staff report. 
 
APPLICANT:  

 The applicant is Jim Kiely with Larson Building Company, LLC. 

 The property is owned by Lance Larson.  
 
REQUEST:  

 The applicant is requesting approval to replace an existing generator at the rear, southwest corner of 
the house, with a larger, 38 KW generator.  
 

ZONING: 

 The property is currently zoned R-1 (Planned Single Family Low-Density). 
 
COMPREHENSIVE PLAN:  

 The Comprehensive Plan designates this property as Low Density Residential. 
 
LOCATION: 
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SURROUNDING ZONING:   

 North, South, East, 
and West 

To the North, South, East, and West is the Leawood Subdivision, Zoned R-1 
(Planned Single Family Low Density Residential) 

 
SITE PLAN: 

 Permanently installed generators for residential dwellings larger than 22 KW or 48 cu.ft. shall be 
required to be reviewed as part of the final landscape plan to address location, screening, and design 
subject to approval by the Governing Body after recommendation of the Planning Commission. 

 A 38 KW generator for residential use is proposed at 8416 Ensley Lane (Leawood Subdivision – Lot 
674), north of 86th Street and west of Lee Blvd. 

 The generator is proposed to be 35” in width, 76.8” in length, and 46.1” in height, for a total of 
approximately 71.7 cubic feet. 

 The generator shall be located in the rear yard of the home, adjacent to the dwelling. The generator 
will be less than 5’ away from the main structure of the home. 

 The manufacturer has stated the generator shall be a maximum of 64 dbs at 23 feet from the property 
line. The generator is setback 20’ from the side property line.  Landscaping is located around the 
generator to screen the generator from view and buffer the noise. The applicant is aware that the 
generator must be a maximum of 60 dbs at the property line, which will be checked and verified at the 
time of installation of the generator. If the generator is over the allotted 60 dbs noise mitigation must 
be provided to ensure that this requirement is met. 

 Per the Leawood Development Ordinance, permanently installed generators for residential use must 
meet the following criteria, as defined in Section 16-4-1.3(A)(7). 
 

Criteria Required Compliance 

Only in Rear Yard Complies 

Only powered by Propane or Natural Gas Complies 

Screened by either a fence not exceeding 4’ in height 
or evergreen plantings 

Complies 

Not to be placed more than 5’ from the primary 
structure 

Complies 

Not to encroach setbacks Complies 

Shall not exceed a noise level of 60 dbs at the 
property line 

Compliance with this requirement will be checked 
and verified at installation of the generator 

 
LANDSCAPING: 

 Four existing evergreen arborvitaes screen the existing generator to a height of approximately 7 feet, 
a height taller than the generator.  

 The evergreens are to remain in order to screen the replacement generator, and will exceed the height 
of the proposed generator. 

 
STAFF RECOMMENDATION: 
Staff recommends the Planning Commission approve Case 72-19, Leawood Subdivision – Lot 674 – 
Residential Emergency Generator – with the following stipulations: 
1. The project shall be limited to the installation of a 38KW emergency residential generator with 

landscaping for a single-family residence within the Leawood Subdivision – Lot 674, zoned R-1. 
2. Per Section 16-4-1.3(A)(7)(g) of the Leawood Development Ordinance, noise from the generator shall 

be a maximum of 60 dbs at the property line, which shall be checked and verified at the time of final 
inspection of the generator. If it is determined that the noise from the permanently installed generator 
is greater than 60 dbs at the property line, noise mitigation shall be required to meet this requirement. 
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3. The landscaping screening the generator shall be installed and maintained in a manner that meets the 
requirements of the Leawood Development Ordinance, including being a minimum of 6” taller than the 
generator at the time of planting. 

4.  Development rights under this approval shall vest in accordance with K.S.A. 12-764. 
5. In addition to the stipulations listed in this report, the developer/property owner agrees to abide by all 

ordinances of the City of Leawood Development Ordinance, unless a deviation has been granted, and 
to execute a statement acknowledging in writing that they agree to stipulations one through five.   
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City of Leawood Planning Commission Staff Report 
 
MEETING DATE: July 23, 2019 
REPORT WRITTEN: July 8, 2019 
 

RANCH MART – MCDONALD’S – REQUEST FOR APPROVAL OF A SPECIAL USE PERMIT FOR A 
FAST FOOD RESTAURANT WITH DRIVE-THROUGH, PRELIMINARY PLAN, AND FINAL PLAN – 
Located north of 95th Street and east of Mission Road – Case 69-19           **Public Hearing**            

 
STAFF RECOMMENDATION:   
Staff recommends approval of Case 69-19, Ranch Mart – McDonald’s, a request for approval of a Special 
Use Permit for a fast food restaurant with drive-through, Preliminary Plan and Final Plan, subject to the 
stipulations provided in the staff report. 
 
APPLICANT:   

 The applicant and engineer is Doug Ubben with Phelps Engineering, Inc. 

 The landscape architect is Pete Oppermann with Oppermann Land Design, LLC. 

 The architect is Jacob Waggoner with Stantec Architecture, Inc. 

 The property owner is Ranch Mart North, LLC. 
 

REQUEST: 

 The applicant is requesting approval of an additional drive-through lane, for a total of two lanes, as well 
as exterior modifications to the building, on-site modifications and off-site modifications that are adjacent 
to the site.  The proposed drive-through lane requires approval of a Special Use Permit.  Special Use 
Permit approval requires concurrent approval of a Preliminary Plan.  The applicant is also seeking 
concurrent approval a Final Plan.  

  
COMPREHENSIVE PLAN: 

 The Comprehensive Plan designates this property as Retail. 
 
ZONING: 

 The current zoning on the property is SD-CR (Planned General Retail). 
 
LOCATION: 

 McDonald’s 
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SURROUNDING ZONING: 

 North Directly to the north of the property is the main center of the Ranch Mart development, 
followed by the Curè of Ars church and school, and the Leawood subdivision, a single-family 
residential subdivision, zoned R-1 (Planned Single-Family Low Density Residential). 

 East To the east is the main center of the Ranch Mart development followed by the Leawood 
subdivision, a single-family residential subdivision zoned R-1 (Planned Single-Family Low 
Density Residential). 

 South To the south is 95th Street, beyond which is the southern portion of the Ranch Mart shopping 
center, and a retirement living facility within the City of Overland Park. 

 West To the west is Mission Road, beyond which is a collection of commercial uses within the City 
of Prairie Village. 

 
SITE HISTORY: 

 A Final Plan and Final Plat was approved for the Ranch Mart North development on April 15, 2019 with 
Ordinance No. 5173. Changes included site improvements and façade updates for the main center of 
the development. The application also revised parking lot islands adjacent to the McDonald’s site, the 
sidewalks surrounding the McDonald’s site, and landscaping on the site. 

 
SITE PLAN: 

 The McDonald’s lot is located at the southwest corner of the Ranch Mart North Shopping Center and 
operates from 5 a.m. to midnight. 

 The building is generally located within the center of the lot with the main entrance on the west side of 
the building. 

 Two driveways provide access to the site, one from Mission Road and one from 95th Street. 

 Angled parking is located north and south of the building. The parking lot medians located in front of 
these angled parking areas are proposed to be made narrower, but are still wide enough to allow for the 
overhang of vehicle bumpers. 

 Double drive-through lanes are proposed on the east side of the building, in the location of the existing 
single lane drive-through. 

 The drive-thru window is located on the north side of the building with the drive-through lanes beginning 
on the south side of the building and wrapping around the south and east sides to the drive-through 
window.   

 Queuing for the drive-thru starts at the western end of the south side of the building.  The order boxes 
and menu boards are located on the east side of the building.  A landscape area is currently located on 
the east side of the building and is 8’ in width. The applicant proposes to narrow this green space to 6.1’ 
to provide room for the additional drive-through lane.  

 The application is proposing to split the single drive-through lane into two drive-through lanes beginning 
on the east side of the building.  In order to accommodate the additional drive-through lane, the plans 
proposed to reduce the width of the existing median east of the drive-through lane from 15’ to 4.1’. 

 A 6’ median is proposed to separate the two drive-through lanes and accommodate menu boards, a 
drive-through clearance canopy, and order display canopy. 

 The parking lot islands at the southeast corner of the site are proposed to be reconfigured to 
accommodate additional green space as needed and to direct the flow of traffic. 
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 A 6’ wide sidewalk is proposed along 95th Street at the McDonald’s frontage, while 5’ sidewalks are 
proposed along Mission Road at the McDonald’s frontage. This is in conformance with the Preliminary 
and Final site development plans for the overall Ranch Mart North development. 

 
PERFORMANCE CRITERIA: 

 The subject site was developed prior to the adoption of the current ordinance.  Some of the site 
characteristics are nonconforming as they relate to the required bulk regulations of the SD-CR zoning 
district.  However, the nonconforming site characteristics are considered legally nonconforming.  The 
following table summarizes criteria that are required along with the existing and what is currently 
proposed. 
 
McDonald’s Site 

Criteria Required Existing Proposed Criteria 

Exterior Structure Setback  40’ 41’ 41’ Complies 

Residential Structure Setback (North) 125’ 512’ 512’ Complies 

Minimum Open Space % 30% 25% 26% Reduces Non-Conformity 

Minimum Interior Open Space % 10% 12% 11%  Complies 

Parking along 95th Street (McDonalds) 25’ 4.4’ 6.4’ Reduces Non-Conforming 

Maximum Floor Area Ratio (F.A.R.) 0.25 0.14 0.14  Complies 

Height Limit – SD-CR 50’ (max.) 16’ 18” Complies 

 
Requested Deviations: 

 The following deviations are requested, as provided by Section 16-3-9 A(5) of the Leawood Development 
Ordinance: 

 Required Existing Proposed Criteria 

Interior Parking Setback 10’ 0’ 0’ Deviation Requested 

 
TRAFFIC: 

 Per the Public Works Department, a traffic study is not required with this project.   
 
INTERACT: 

 An Interact meeting was held on July 11, 2019.  A summary and sign-in sheet of the meeting is attached. 
 
SIGNAGE:   

 The Ranch Mart North development has sign criteria recommended by the Planning Commission and 
approved by the Governing Body. The Ranch Mart development is in the process of revising the existing 
sign critiera. 

 Signage is approved administratively through a separate application. No signage is approved with this 
application. 

 
LIGHTING: 

 A photometric study was approved for the McDonald’s lot with the Final Plan for the Ranch Mart 
Redevelopment project (Case 04-19), which included the parking lot lighting.  

 The applicant has not provided additional photometric information including the proposed lighting on the 
building exterior. A revised photometric study including exterior building light fixtures shall be provided 
prior to Governing Body consideration. 
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LANDSCAPING: 

 Landscaping and screening for the overall Ranch Mart North development was approved with Case 04-
19, Final Plan and Final Plat, which included perimeter landscaping for the McDonalds site. 

 The proposed landscape plan for the McDonald’s site is in keeping with the previously approved 
landscape plan, with the exception of a few plant location adjustments in areas where islands were 
widened or narrowed. 

 The proposed landscape plan also proposes evergreen and deciduous shrubs within the new drive-
through medians and around the base of the building. 
 

ELEVATIONS:  

 The existing building is 16’-0” tall, with 4,151 sq.ft. and an associated drive-through lane. 

 The existing building has a mansard roof with shingles. 

 The footprint and size of the existing building is to remain to the same. 

 The applicant is proposing significant exterior modifications to the building.  The applicant proposes to 
remove the mansard roof and align a 1’-10” parapet wall with the face of the building. 

 The applicant proposes to utilize the existing red brick on the building, and accent it with gray and taupe 
colored cementitious stucco. New brick to match the existing will be used to infill where needed. 

 Aluminum, horizontal, canopies are proposed around the entrances of the building on the western and 
southern elevations, and over the order windows on the northern elevation. 

 The existing window glass on the building is proposed to remain. 

 The location of the trash enclosure is proposed to remain on the eastern side of the southern elevation 
of the building. The existing wooden gates of the trash enclosure will be replaced with a 7’ tall decorative 
steel gate painted to match the base color of the building. 

 The exterior downspouts of the building are proposed to be removed and replaced with enclosed 
downspouts.  

 
Drive-Through Canopies 

 The applicant proposes a double arm gateway clearance structure located in the center island between 
the drive-through lanes, which is 10’-8” in height and spans 15’-4” across. The pole is charcoal colored 
steel with yellow colored clearance bars. 

 The applicant proposes one “order here” canopy and one menu board per drive-through lane.  

 The “order here” canopy is charcoal in color and measures 11’ 5-11/16” tall with an arm that spans 9’ 4- 
3/16” wide, which will extend approximately 6 feet over the drive aisle. 

 The menu boards have two screens. The overall structure measures 5’ 11-5/8” tall and 4’-10” wide, 
meeting the size requirements of the Leawood Development Ordinance. 

 
PARKING: 

 The Leawood Development Ordinance requires one parking spaces for every two restaurant seats; 
McDonald’s is required to have 45 parking spaces. 

 The existing McDonald’s site accommodates 17 parking spaces, while the proposed site accommodates 
24 parking spaces, thereby reducing the legal non-conformity on site. A cross access parking agreement 
will be recorded for the overall Ranch Mart North development with the recording of the Final Plat. 
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STAFF COMMENTS: 

 The proposed landscaping surrounding the menu boards is not of sufficient height to screen the back of 
the menu board. Staff recommends replacing the proposed landscaping behind the menu boards with 
evergreens a minimum of 6’ in height (Stipulation #5). 

 The proposed ADA crosswalk at the southern drive aisle is not demarcated with enhanced and 
differentiated material from the paving material, and does not match the crosswalks within the overall 
Ranch Mart development. Staff recommends the applicant place stamped concrete in herringbone 
pattern with a concrete ribbon on each side across the drive aisle to demarcate the crosswalk and to 
match the crosswalks within the remainder of the development (Stipulation #6). 

 The applicant has not shown the exterior building lighting on the photometric study. Staff recommends 
the applicant add the additional photometric information to the photometric plan prior to Governing Body 
consideration. (Stipulation #7).  

 
GOLDEN CRITERIA: 

 The character of the neighborhood: 
The subject property is within a commercial development, Ranch Mart, located at the southwest corner 
of 95th Street and Mission Road.  Commercial developments exist at the other three corners of this 
intersection.  A religious institution and school are located to the north of the Ranch Mart development.  
Single-family residential properties are located to the north and east.  The character of the neighborhood 
is commercial uses mixed with institutional and residential land uses. 
 

 The zoning and uses of properties nearby: 
The surrounding properties consist of additional commercial uses within the Ranch Mart shopping center, 
and single-family residential uses, zoned R-1 (Planned Single Family Low-Density Residential), to the 
north and east. Commercial and multi-family residential is located to the south within the City of Overland 
Park, and commercial uses are located to the west within the City of Prairie Village. 
 

 The suitability of the subject property for uses to which it has been restricted: 
The subject property is a commercial development that has been in existence for over 25 years and is 
located at an intersection of two arterial streets with commercial development located on the other three 
corners of the intersection.  The property is suitable for the uses to which it has been restricted. 
 

 The extent to which removal of the restrictions will detrimentally affect nearby property: 
The project is suitable to this site, but the stipulations recommended for approval with this application are 
necessary to ensure a high quality development.   
 

 The length of time that the property has been vacant: 
The property is not vacant.  It has been developed as a fast food restaurant since at least 1992.   

 

 The relative gain to the public health, safety, and welfare due to the denial of the application as 
compared to the hardship imposed, if any, as a result of denial of the application: 
The property is a commercial development that has existed for over twenty-five years. Denial of the 
application will not result in a relative gain to the public health, safety and welfare because the project 
does not propose any new uses, but proposes improvements and upgrades to the current 
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development.  The applicant proposes improvements to public health, safety and welfare by improving 
traffic circulation, improving the existing building conditions, and providing additional separation 
between the arterial streets and adjacent parking lots. 
   

 The recommendation of the permanent staff: 
City Staff recommends approval of the application with the stipulations in the staff report. 

 

 Conformance of the requested change to the adopted master plan of the City of Leawood: 
The Comprehensive Plan designates this property for retail uses.  The zoning is SD-CR (Panned General 
Retail). The uses conform to both the master plan and zoning of the City of Leawood.   

 
STAFF RECOMMENDATION:  
Staff recommends approval of Case 69-19, Ranch Mart – McDonald’s, a request for approval of a Special 
Use Permit for a fast food restaurant with drive-through, Preliminary Plan and Final Plan, subject to the 
following stipulations: 
1. This approval is limited to façade and site improvements for McDonald’s within the Ranch Mart North 

development, for a total of 4,151 sq.ft. on 0.67 acres for an F.A.R. of 0.14 within the SD-CR zoning 
district. 

2. The Special Use Permit shall be issued to McDonald’s Corporation, and per the Leawood Development 
Ordinance, shall be limited to a term of 20 years from the date of Governing Body approval. 

3. The Final Plat for the Ranch Mart North development, approved with Ordinance No. 5173, shall be 
recorded with the Johnson County Registrar of Deeds prior to issuance of any building permit in the 
Ranch Mart North development. 

4. All power lines, utility lines, etc. (both existing and proposed, including utilities and power lines adjacent 
to and within abutting right-of-way) are required to be placed underground.  This must be done prior to 
final occupancy of any new construction, subject to the applicant and Governing Body entering into a 
memorandum of understanding on existing tenant space. 

5. Prior to Governing Body, the applicant shall revise the landscaping behind the menu boards to screen 
the back of the menu boards to a minimum height of 6 feet. 

6. Prior to Governing Body, the applicant shall demarcate the pedestrian crossing at the southern drive 
aisle with brick colored stamped herringbone concrete, to match the crosswalks approved for overall 
Ranch Mart North redevelopment project. 

7. Prior to Governing Body consideration, the applicant shall revise the photometric study to include all 
proposed exterior light fixtures on site, including those on the building. 

8. All utility boxes, not otherwise approved with the final development plan, with a height of less than 55 
inches, a footprint of 15 sq.ft. in area or less, or a pad footprint of 15 sq.ft. in area or less, shall be installed 
only with the prior approval of the Director of Planning as being in compliance with the Leawood 
Development Ordinance. 

9. All utility boxes, not otherwise approved with the final development plan, with a height of 55 inches or 
greater, a footprint greater than 15 sq.ft. in area, or a pad footprint greater than 15 sq.ft. in area, shall be 
installed only with the prior recommendation of the Planning Commission as being in compliance with 
the Leawood Development Ordinance based on review of a site plan containing such final development 
plan information as may be required by the City, and approved by the Governing Body.     

10. The project includes the following deviations: 

 0’ Interior parking setback 
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11. In accordance with the Leawood Development Ordinance, all trash enclosures shall be screened from 
public view with a 6 foot solid masonry structure to match the materials used in the buildings and shall 
be architecturally attached to the individual buildings and accented with appropriate landscaping.  The 
gates of the trash enclosures shall be painted, sight obscuring, decorative steel. No outdoor storage of 
product or equipment shall be allowed. 

12. All downspouts shall be enclosed. 
13. All rooftop equipment shall be screened from the public view with an architectural treatment, which is 

compatible with the building architecture.  The architectural treatment screening the utilities shall be at 
least as tall as the utilities they are to screen. 

14. Exterior ground-mounted or building-mounted equipment including, but not limited to, mechanical 
equipment, utilities, meter banks and air conditioning units, shall be painted to blend with the building 
and screened from public view with landscaping or with an architectural treatment compatible with the 
building structure. 

15. Per the Leawood Development Ordinance, all parking lot light fixtures associated with this project shall 
be a maximum of 18’ in height from grade, including base and shall match the parking lot light fixtures 
for the remainder of the Ranch Mart development. 

16. Per the Leawood Development Ordinance, the source of illumination of all proposed light fixtures shall 
not be visible. 

17. Per the Leawood Development Ordinance, the maximum amount of 0.5 foot-candles shall be permitted 
at the property line. 

18. Per the Leawood Development Ordinance, one (1) tree shall be provided for each 40 feet of street 
frontage within the landscaped setback abutting said street frontage.  

19. Per the Leawood Development Ordinance, all medium and large deciduous trees), shall be 2 ½” caliper 
as measured 6” above the ground, all small deciduous and ornamental trees shall be a minimum of 1 ½” 
caliper as measured 6” above the ground, conifers and evergreen trees shall be a minimum of 6’ in 
height, and shrubs shall be a 24” in height at the time of planting. 

20. Per the Leawood Development Ordinance, at the time of planting, plant material screening the ground 
mounted utilities shall be a minimum of 6” taller than the utility it is to screen, with lower shrubs in the 
foreground to eliminate any gaps in screening. 

21. All landscaped open space shall consist of a minimum of 60% living materials. 
22. All landscaped areas shall be irrigated. 
23. The approved final landscape plan shall contain the following statements: 

a) All trees shall be callipered and undersized trees shall be rejected. 
b) All parking lot islands shall be bermed to discourage foot traffic. 
c) All hedges shall be trimmed to maintain a solid hedge appearance. 
d) All plant identification tags shall remain until issuance of a Final Certificate of Occupancy.   
e) Any deviation to the approved final landscape plan shall require the written approval of the landscape 

architect and the City of Leawood, prior to installation. 
f) All landscaped open space shall consist of a minimum of 60% living materials. 

24. A letter, signed and sealed by a Kansas Registered Landscape Architect, shall be submitted prior to final 
occupancy that states that all landscaping has been installed per the approved landscape plan and all 
plant material used is to the highest standards of the nursery industry. 

25. The applicant shall obtain all approvals and permits from the Public Works Department, per the public 
works memo, shown as Exhibit A, on file with the City of Leawood Planning and Development 
Department, prior to recording the plat. 
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26. The applicant shall obtain all approvals from the City of Leawood Fire Department, per the Fire Marshal’s 
memo, shown as Exhibit B, on file with the City of Leawood Planning and Development Department, 
prior to issuance of a building permit. 

27. Signage is not approved with this application.  All signage shall meet all the requirements of the Leawood 
Development Ordinance and sign criteria for the Ranch Mart development.   

28. A Sign Permit shall be required from the City of Leawood Community Development Department prior to 
installation. 

29. Per the Leawood Development Ordinance, a maximum noise level of 60 decibels shall be permitted at 
the property line, including all restaurant patio sound systems and/or televisions.  

30. The Owner/Applicant shall establish a funding mechanism to maintain, repair and/or replace all common 
areas and common area improvements including, but not limited to, streets, walls, and storm water 
system improvements.  The mechanism will include a deed restriction running with each lot in the 
development that will mandate that each owner must contribute to the funding for such maintenance, 
repair and/or replacement and that each lot owner is jointly and severally liable for such maintenance, 
repair and/or replacement, and that the failure to maintain, repair or replace such common areas or 
common area improvements may result in the City of Leawood maintaining, repairing and replacing said 
common areas and/or improvements, and the cost incurred by the City of Leawood will be jointly and 
severally assessed against each lot, and will be the responsibility of the owner(s) of such lot. 

31. No construction shall be allowed between the hours of 9:00 p.m. to 7:00 a.m. and not on Sundays. 
32. A cross access/parking easement for the entire development shall be recorded on the plat with the 

Johnson County Registrar of Deeds prior to issuance of a building permit. 
33. An erosion control plan for both temporary and permanent measures to be taken during and after 

construction shall be required at the time of application for building permit. 
34. All sidewalks shall be installed as per street construction standards. 
35. Development rights under this approval shall vest in accordance with K.S.A. 12-764. 
36. In addition to the stipulations listed in this report, the developer/property owner agrees to abide by all 

ordinances of the City of Leawood Development Ordinance, unless a deviation has been granted, and 
to execute a statement acknowledging in writing that they agree to stipulations one through thirty-six. 

 



jessicaw
Text Box
Exhibit A





1

Jessica Schuller

From: Gene Hunter

Sent: Thursday, June 27, 2019 9:13 AM

To: Jessica Schuller

Subject: RE: Truck Movement Plans - Ranch Mart McDonalds

The Fire Dept has no objection to this is site plan. 

 

Gene Hunter, Leawood Fire Marshal 

 

From: Jessica Schuller <jessicas@leawood.org>  

Sent: Thursday, June 27, 2019 8:35 AM 

To: Gene Hunter <geneh@leawood.org> 

Subject: Truck Movement Plans - Ranch Mart McDonalds 

 

 

 

Jessica Schuller, AICP 

City of Leawood 
Planner II 
jessicas@leawood.org 
Tel (913) 663-9163 
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PHELPS ENGINEERING, INC. 

1270 N. Winchester ▬ Olathe, Kansas 66061 ▬ (913) 393-1155 ▬ Fax (913) 393-1166 ▬ www.phelpsengineering.com 

 

Meeting Date: July 11, 2019, 6:00 PM 
 
Location of Meeting: Leawood Community Center 
 4800 Town Center Drive-Maple Room 
 Leawood, KS 
 
Project: McDonald’s Ranch Mart – Preliminary Plan, Final Plan and 

Special Use Permit for a Fast Food Restaurant with Drive 
Thru 

  
Project/File No.: 180411 
 
Neighborhood Attendees: See attached Sign in Sheet 
 
Development Team:  Doug Ubben, Jr., P.E. – Phelps Engineering, Inc. 
  Aaron Norris, P.E. – Phelps Engineering, Inc. 
 
Copy: Jessica Schuller, Leawood Planning Department 
 
 

1. Doug Ubben and Aaron Norris with Phelps Engineering setup the display boards 
showing the building elevations, site plan, landscape plan and the overall 
shopping center site plan. 

2. One attendee was present and it was the owner of the Ranch Mart Shopping 
Center.  He was interested in the building elevations for the McDonalds and the 
new sidewalks that were being installed along 95th Street and Mission Road with 
the proposed improvements of McDonalds.  He thought the building elevations 
looked good and would like to see the updates to McDonald’s.    

3. This concluded the meeting. 
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Ownership:
Ranch Mart North, LLC
3705 W. 95th Street
Overland Park, Kansas 66206

Zoning Area:
SC-CR

Zoning Area:
R-1
Rezoning to:
SD-NCR2

Zoning Area:
SD-NCR2

NO CHANGES THIS SHEET

CHANGES FOR PHASE
1b BY:
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Schedule

Total area of the site: 750,401 sq. ft., 17.23 acres

Tract 1 site area: 650,348 sq. ft.

Tract 2 site area: 7,651 sq. ft.

Tract 3 site area: 24,340 sq. ft.

Tract 4 site area: 29,475 sq. ft.

Tract 5 site area: 15,983 sq. ft.

Tract 6-1 site area: 13,910 sq. ft.

Tract 6-2 site area: 8,694 sq. ft.

Gross building area: 218,598 sq. ft.

CareNow: 4,896 sq. ft.

NBKC Bank: 4,836 sq. ft.

McDonald's: 4,151 sq. ft.

Price Chopper: 63,320 sq. ft.

Retail: 68,197 sq. ft.

Mixed Use Building: 27,597 sq. ft.

Basement Storage: 45,601 sq. ft.

Floor area: 158,689 sq. ft.

Floor area ratio: 0.21

Building coverage: 21%

Open space: 142,397 sq. ft. / 750,401 sq. ft. = 19%

Required int. landscape: 75,040 sq. ft., 10%

Provided int. landscape: 88,509 sq. ft., 12%

Existing green space: 100,875 sq. ft., 13%

Proposed green space: 137,289 sq. ft., 18%

Existing impervious: 649,526 sq. ft., 87%

Proposed impervious: 613,112 sq. ft., 82%

SD-CR site area: 623,043 sq. ft.

SD-CR open space: 126,930 sq. ft., 20%

SD-NCR2 site area: 70,578 sq. ft.

SD-NCR2 open space: 10,039 sq. ft., 14%

Required parking: CareNow (4,896): 17 spaces

NBKC (4,836): 17 spaces

Price Chopper (63,320): 222 spaces

Retail (55,433): 194 spaces

Office (13,950): 49 spaces

McDonald's (74): 45 spaces

Foo's (22): 11 spaces

O'Neill's (136): 68 spaces

Meat Mitch (248): 124 spaces

Duck Donuts (22): 11 spaces

8,359 sf Rest. (334): 167 spaces

Total: 925 spaces

Provided parking: 931 spaces

Number of dwelling units:  Not applicable

Building and parking setbacks for all sides

North: 25' parking setback & 125' building setback (adjacent residential)

South: 25' parking setback & 40' building setback

East: 25' parking setback & 125' building setback for SD-CR zoned portion,

75' building setback for SD-NCR2 zoned portion (adjacent residential)

West: 25' parking setback & 40' building setback

Height of each building (stories and feet)

CareNow: One story, 24'-0"

NBKC Bank: One story, 32'-0"

McDonald's: One story, 16'-0"

Price Chopper: One story, 28'-0"

Retail: One story, 26'-6"

Mixed Use Building: Two stories, 38'-6"

Plaza / Pedestrian Space Requirements:

931 spaces

931 / 125 = 7.448

7.448 x 1,000 = 7,448 sq. ft.

7,448 x 50% = 3,724 sq. ft. green

Plaza / Pedestrian Space Provided:

18,691 sq. ft.

2,318 sq. ft. green space within plaza

Legal Description

A tract of land in the Southwest Quarter of the Southwest Quarter of Section 34, Township 12,

Range 25 in the City of Leawood, Johnson County, Kansas and being more particularly

described as follows:

Beginning at the Southwest corner of the Southwest Quarter of the Southwest Quarter of said

Section 34; thence North 01°43'21” West, along the West line thereof, a distance of 663.51 feet

(measured, 663.60 feet, deed) to the Northwest corner of the South one-half of the West

one-half of said Southwest Quarter of the Southwest Quarter of said Section 34; thence North

87°41'42” East, along the north line thereof, a distance of 661.88 feet (measured, 661.94 feet,

deed) to the Northeast corner of the South one-half of the West one-half of the Southwest

Quarter of the Southwest Quarter of said Section 34, said point being the Southwest corner of

lot 1382, Leawood, Lots 1361 to 1404; thence North 87°36'50” East, parallel to the South line of

the Southwest Quarter of the Southwest Quarter of said Section 34 and along the South line of

said Lot 1382, a distance of 330.73 feet (measured, 330.00 feet, deed) to the Southeast Corner

thereof; thence South 01°43'21” East, parallel to the West line of the East one-half of the

Southwest Quarter of the  Southwest Quarter of said Section 34, and along the Westerly line of

Lot 1369, Leawood, Lots 1361 to 1404, a distance of 85.49 feet (measured, 85.5 feet, deed) to

the Southernmost corner thereof and Southwest corner of Lot 1368, said Leawood; thence

North 87°32'59” East (measured, North 87°36'50” East, calculated from deed and plat) along

the South line of said Lot 1368, a distance of 280.81 feet (measured, 281.28 feet, deed) to the

Southeast corner thereof, said point being the Northwest corner of Lot 1352, Leawood Lots

1302 -1360; thence South 01°45'33” East, along the Westerly line of said Leawood, Lots

1302-1360, a distance of 577.39 feet to the South line of the Southwest Quarter of the

Southwest Quarter of said Section 34; thence South 87°36'50” West, along said South line, a

distance of 1273.80 feet to the POINT OF BEGINNING less and except the South 40 feet and

West 30 feet thereof dedicated for roadway purposes and containing 750,478.47 square feet or

17.23 acres, more or less.
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Tenant Use Area Seating Parking Required

1. O'Neills 6,580 sq. ft. 136 seats 68 spaces

2. Retail 3,832 sq. ft. 13 spaces

3. MPact PT 2,437 sq. ft. 8 spaces

4. Cosmo Prof 2,496 sq. ft. 9 spaces

5. Foot Spot 4,483 sq. ft. 16 spaces

6. Lilliane's 3,276 sq. ft. 11 spaces

7. Hallmark 7,324 sq. ft. 26 spaces

8. Pride Cleaners 1,250 sq. ft. 4 spaces

9. Paris Tailor 850 sq. ft. 3 spaces

10. Sarpino's 1,754 sq. ft. 6 spaces

11. Ranchmart Wine 8,175 sq. ft. 29 spaces

12. John's 730 sq. ft. 3 spaces

13. West Mall 12,500 sq. ft. 44 spaces

14. Price Chopper 63,320 sq. ft. 222 spaces

15. Duck Donuts 1,763 sq. ft. 22 seats 11 spaces

16. Gordon Dental 2,496 sq. ft. 9 spaces

17. Mathnasium 1,500 sq. ft. 5 spaces

18. Meat Mitch 6,592 sq. ft. 248 seats 124 spaces

19. Rest. A 4,102 sq. ft. 164 seats 82 spaces

20. Rest B 4,257 sq. ft. 170 seats 85 spaces

21. Retail A 2,339 sq. ft. 8 spaces

22. Office 13,950 sq. ft. 49 spaces

23. NBKC 4,836 sq. ft. 17 spaces

24. CareNow 4,896 sq. ft. 17 spaces

25. McDonald's 4,151 sq. ft. 74 seats 45 spaces

26. Foo's 1,024 sq. ft. 22 seats 11 spaces

Total: 170,913 sq. ft. 836 seats 925 spaces required

Note:  All existing basement space in the shopping center is used exclusively as storage

space.  No tenants have rights to access the basement.  This space has not been included

in the parking count.
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Notes

1. Reconnect public sidewalk with connection from north.

2. New concrete sidewalk and integrated screen wall along Mission Road for length of parking

field.

3. Reconfigure vehicular entry along Mission Road.

4. New landscape islands and 90 degree parking configuration on west side of retail center.

5. Stamped herringbone pattern concrete pedestrian crosswalk with concrete ribbon on each

side (typ).

6. Relocate existing McDonald's monument sign along Mission Road to accommodate

sidewalk.

7. Additional parking along 95th in McDonald's parking lot based on relocated vehicular entry

point further east.

8. Island definition of parking field on north side of McDonald's parking lot.

9. Relocate existing McDonald's monument sign along 95th Street to updated entry island.

10. Updated parking configuration, screen walls and pedestrian paths into development along

95th Street.

11. Removal of existing road to the south of the cemetery, replaced with additional

landscaping.

12. Existing McDonald's and associated drive thru to remain.

#

landscaping.

12. Existing McDonald's and associated drive thru to remain.

13. Existing CareNow building to remain.

14. Reconfigure parking field on east side of development to meet 25'-0" parking buffer

requirements.

15. Integrated and moveable planters around pedestrian paths

16. Reconfigure parking field around NBKC bank.

17. NBKC bank existing to remain.

18. New islands provided for bank teller lanes.

19. New consolidated trash enclosure with materials to match new facade updates.

20. Reconfigure parking field on north side of development to meet 25'-0" parking buffer

requirements.

21. Existing dock wall and delivery area for Price Chopper to remain.

22. Demo existing building in northeast corner of retail center and replace with 2-story

mixed-use (office / restaurant / retail) building.

23. Screen wall provides public sidewalk to south and east of outdoor patio space of corner

restaurant.

24. Screen wall along plaza provides screening to existing utilities located on north wall of

existing retail building.

25. Demo portion of existing retail building to provide pedestrian access to plaza.

existing retail building.

25. Demo portion of existing retail building to provide pedestrian access to plaza.

26. Maintain vehicular access to plaza at east entry.

27. Plaza features per perspective detailing provided with Final Site Plan submission.

28. Existing covered grocery delivery area conversion to pharmacy pick up.

29. Dashed line represents second floor overhang of outdoor and office space.

30. Reduction of drive width to delivery area for minimizing visual impact behind retail center.

31. Removable stainless steel pipe bollards to protect east plaza entry.

32. Integrated planter boxes and bollards for vehicular protection at south and north plaza

entries.

33. LED Illuminated stainless steel pipe bollards along frontage of Price Chopper entry.

34. LED site lighting with 18' total height maximum (including base, from grade) shown

throughout parking lot.

35. Bicycle parking location.

36. Sight distance triangle along 95th St. at restricted access points:  220' clear line of sight.

37. Sight distance triangle along 95th St. at full access point:  450' clear line of sight.

38. Sight distance triangle along Mission Rd. at full access point:  180' clear line of sight.

39. Switchgear box per KCPL.

40. Sectionalizer per KCPL.

Transformer per KCPL.

Switchgear box per KCPL.

40. Sectionalizer per KCPL.

41. Transformer per KCPL.

42. Remove existing sign along Mission Road.

43. Low screen wall along Mission Road & 95th Street to remain outside of sight distance

triangle.  3'-0" tall screening along public street frontage provided with ledgestone walls,

berms and landscaping.

44. Existing retaining wall to remain along 95th Frontage of CareNow building.

45. Speed table crosswalk to Price Chopper entry.

46. Sight distance triangle within parking lot:  200' clear line of sight.

47. Provide solid gate for vehicular access to service area.

48. 3" tall speed table at vehicular intersection with painted art feature.  Integrated LED traffic

rated lighting around limits of speed table.

49. Crosswalk / landscape island with brick herringbone pattern on 6" elevated surface.

Location for sculpture centered in island.

50. Expand crosswalk with herringbone pattern concrete with integrated LED traffic rated

lighting around limits of pattern.

51. Black aluminum fence and gate at each end of the restaurant patio.

52. Outdoor seating and games per Meat Mitch tenant requirements.  Surfaces within patio

Black aluminum fence and gate at each end of the restaurant patio.

52. Outdoor seating and games per Meat Mitch tenant requirements.  Surfaces within patio

include concrete, herringbone stamped concrete and artificial turf.

53. At grade planters in concrete pavement.

54. Elevated planter along east wall of Price Chopper.  See landscape plans for infill of beds &

water feature designation.

55. Seat wall at 24" above finish grade.

56. Sidewalk access to cemetery.

57. Proposed location of KCATA bus stop.  Final design to be submitted separately by KCATA.

58. Align sidewalk with back of curb of new & existing curb along south parking stalls for

McDonald's.

59. Water feature per landscape plans.

60. Kiosk restaurant w/ bar height seating per elevations.

61. Monument sign to meet LDO requirements.

62. Screen wall with directional signage (signage to be addressed by separately submitted sign

criteria).

63. Additional drive-thru order point added to McDonald's.
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Dimension Notes

1. 12" high concrete planter.

2. 24" high concrete planter.

3. 36" high concrete planter.

4. 36" high patio enclosure.

5. 24" high patio enclosure.

6. 36" high opaque wall.

7. 54" high opaque wall.
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Dimension Notes

1. 12" high concrete planter.

2. 24" high concrete planter.

3. 36" high concrete planter.

4. 36" high patio enclosure.

5. 24" high patio enclosure.

6. 36" high opaque wall.

7. 54" high opaque wall.
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4,151 sq. ft.

1 story

tract line



Calculation Summary (Footcandles calculated using predicted lumen values @ 50K hrs of operation)

Label Units Avg Max Min Avg/Min Max/Min

McDonalds Fc 2.71 7.5 0.7 3.87 10.71

PROPERTY LINE Fc 0.21 0.5 0.0 N.A. N.A.

RANCHMART Fc 1.96 7.4 0.5 3.92 14.80

Luminaire Schedule

Symbol Qty Label Arrangement LMF Lum. Lumens Lum. Watts Part Number

5 B4 SINGLE 1.000 11648 86 OSQ-A-NM-4ME-B-57K-XX-XX + OSQ-DAXX

2 B4-2 D180° 1.000 11648 86 OSQ-A-NM-4ME-B-57K-XX-XX + OSQ-DAXX

2 B4B SINGLE 1.000 8950 86 OSQ-A-NM-4ME-B-57K-XX-XX + OSQ-DAXX + OSQ-BLSMF

1 B4B-AA SINGLE 1.000 8950 86 OSQ-A-NM-4ME-B-57K-XX-XX + OSQ-AAXX + OSQ-BLSMF

38 B5M-2 BACK-BACK 1.020 11056 86 OSQ-A-NM-5ME-B-57K-XX-XX + OSQ-DAXX

3 XSPW SINGLE 0.970 4270 31 XSPW-B-WM-3ME-4L-57K-XX-XX

Illumination results shown on this lighting design

are based on project parameters provided to

Cree, Inc. used inconjunction with luminaire test

procedures conducted under laboratory

conditions.  Actual project conditions differing

from these design parameters may affect field

results. The customer is responsible for

verifying dimensional accuracy along with

compliance with any applicable electrical,

lighting,or energy code.

Filename: 180914LW1CJBR2.AGI

1200 92nd Street - Sturtevant, WI 53177        www.cree.com - (800) 236-6800

SR-32682 Footcandles calculated at 3' AFG

Layout By:

Chris Schlitz

Date:3/8/2019

 (8) PS4S15C1XX (15' X 4" X .125" SQUARE STEEL POLE)

 (1) PS4S15CTXX (15' X 4" X .125" SQUARE STEEL POLE)

 (40) PS4S15C2XX (15' X 4" X .125" SQUARE STEEL POLE)

Proposed Poles Meets 140 MPH Sustained Winds.

Additional Required Equipment:

 (88) OSQ-DAXX (DIRECT ARM MOUNT)

 (1) OSQ-AAXX (ADJUSTABLE ARM MOUNT)

 (3) OSQ-BLSF (BACKLIGHT SHIELD)

 (1) PB-1A4XX (SINGLE HEAD TENON)

***Customer to verify Color, Mounting, Fixture Location and

    Voltage prior to ordering.***

Ranchmart North - northeast corner of 95th & Mission in Leawood KS 66206
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Note:  All exposed bulbs used on the project to be frosted to hide the light source
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Pedestrian Plaza

Average = 2.99

Maximum = 11.1

Minimum = 0.0

Avg/Min Ratio = N.A.

Pedestrian Plaza

Average = 2.99

Maximum = 11.1

Minimum = 0.0

Avg/Min Ratio = N.A.
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Date:12/13/2018

1200 92nd Street - Sturtevant, WI 53177

    www.cree.com - (800) 236-6800

             Illumination results shown on this lighting design are based on project parameters provided to Cree, Inc. used in conjunction with luminaire

        test procedures conducted under laboratory conditions.  Actual project conditions differing from these design parameters may affect field results.

     The customer is responsible for verifying dimensional accuracy along with compliance with any applicable electrical, lighting, or energy code.

Scale: 1"=50'

 Customer responsible to verify ordering information/
  catalogue number prior to placing order.

Filename: 180914LW1CJBR1.AGI Layout by: CHRIS BOSANEC

SR-32682

Footcandles calculated at 3' AFG

Project Name: RANCHMART NORTH

A1.6

final development plan

16231

a
 
r
e

d
e

v
e

l
o

p
m

e
n

t
 
f
o

r

R
a

n
c
h

 
M

a
r
t

3
7

0
0

 
W

.
 
9

5
t
h

 
S

t
r
e

e
t

L
e

a
w

o
o

d
,
 
K

a
n

s
a

s

12.18.2018

DAE

DAE

01.11.2019 1

02.19.2019 2

03.08.2019 3

1

Pedestrian Plaza Photometric Plan

scale: 1" = 50'-0"

north

NO CHANGES THIS SHEET

CHANGES FOR PHASE

1b BY:

06/18/2019



Paving Materials

*Reference A.12 and A.13 for site details

1. Concrete sidewalk 4" thick w/ 6x6 

10

10

 w.w.f. steel mesh reinforcing. Control joints @ 5'-0"

o.c. Broom finish for non-slip surface.

2. Stamped concrete, pattern 2, color 1

3. Stamped concrete, pattern 1, color 2

4. Stamped concrete, pattern 5, color 3

5. Stamped concrete, pattern 7, color 9

6. Stamped concrete, pattern 1, color 1

7. Stamped concrete, pattern 2, color 2

8. Stamped concrete, pattern 3, color 5

9. Stamped concrete, pattern 4, color

10. Stamped concrete, pattern 1, color 6

11. Stamped concrete, pattern 6, color 8

12. Stamped concrete, pattern 8, color 4

13. Stamped concrete, pattern 10, color 7

14. Thermoplastic sheet coating, black and white, pattern per plan

15. Private Patio - Artificial Turf by tenant.

16. Private Patio - Pavers by tenant.

Paving Materials

Patterns:

Pattern 1: Running Bond

Pattern 2: Brick Herringbone

Pattern 3: Brick Basket Weave

Pattern 4: Brick Stacked Bond

Pattern 5: Stone Running Bond

Pattern 6: Stone Herringbone 18"x36"

Pattern 7: Cobblestone

Pattern 8: Stone 24" x 24" Diamond

Pattern 9: Stone 24"x 24" Stacked

Pattern 10: Stone Ashlar

Colors:

Color 1: Butterfield Color SG02 Coral

Color 2: Butterfield Color Crimson Coral

Color 3: Butterfield Color Fiery Coral

Color 4: Butterfield Color Wisteria Bark

Color 5: Butterfield Color Mahogany Bark

Color 6: Butterfield Color Honey Buff

Color 7: Butterfield Color Fox Gray

Color 8: Butterfield Color Driftwood Select

Color 9: Butterfield Color SG01 Brown
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1

Pedestrian Site Plan

scale: 1" = 50'-0"

north

55,687 sq. ft.

1 story

63,320 sq. ft.

1 story

4,259 sq. ft.

1 story

8,092 sq. ft.

1 story

24,648 sq. ft.

2 story

1,024

sq. ft.

1 story

4,836 sq. ft.

1 story

4,896 sq. ft.

1 story

4,151 sq. ft.

1 story

*Note: all pedestrian paths shown within the project limits will meet ADA guidelines
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Stamped Crosswalk Detail

not to scale
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WB-62 - Interstate Semi-Trailer
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A1.9

final development plan

16231

a
 
r
e

d
e

v
e

l
o

p
m

e
n

t
 
f
o

r

R
a

n
c
h

 
M

a
r
t

3
7

0
0

 
W

.
 
9

5
t
h

 
S

t
r
e

e
t

L
e

a
w

o
o

d
,
 
K

a
n

s
a

s

12.18.2018

DAE

DAE

01.11.2019 1

02.19.2019 2

03.08.2019 3

1

Truck Movement Plan
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*Note: truck used in simulation is a WB-62 (8.5'Wx68.5'L)
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SU-30 - Single Unit Truck
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Fire Truck Movement Plan
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*Note: truck used in simulation is an SU-30 (8'Wx30'L)
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Traffic Circulation Plan
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SITE GRADING NOTES: 1. CONTOURS AND ELEVATIONS: Existing 1' and proposed 1' contours are  shown on plans.  Proposed contours and elevations shown represent CONTOURS AND ELEVATIONS: Existing 1' and proposed 1' contours are  shown on plans.  Proposed contours and elevations shown represent approximate finish  grade.  Contractor shall hold down subgrades to allow for pavement and sub-base thicknesses. 2. If the contractor does not accept existing topography as shown on the plans, without exception, he shall have made at his expense, a topographic If the contractor does not accept existing topography as shown on the plans, without exception, he shall have made at his expense, a topographic survey by a registered land surveyor and submit it to the owner for review. 3. CLEARING AND GRUBBING: Prior to beginning preparation of subgrade, all areas under pavements or building shall be stripped of all topsoil, vegetation, CLEARING AND GRUBBING: Prior to beginning preparation of subgrade, all areas under pavements or building shall be stripped of all topsoil, vegetation, large rock fragments (greater than 6 inches in any dimension) and any other deleterious material.  The actual stripping depth should be based on visual examination during construction and the results of proof-rolling operations. The root systems of all trees (not designated to remain) shall be removed in their entirety.  Stripping materials shall not be incorporated into structural fills.  4. TOPSOIL STRIPPING:  Prior to the start of site grading, the contractor shall strip all topsoil from areas to be graded and stockpile at a location on or TOPSOIL STRIPPING:  Prior to the start of site grading, the contractor shall strip all topsoil from areas to be graded and stockpile at a location on or adjacent to the site as directed by the owner.  At completion of grading operations and related construction, the contractor will be responsible for redistribution of topsoil over all areas disturbed by the construction activities.  Topsoil shall be placed to a minimum depth of six inches (6") and in accordance with specifications for landscaping.  At that time and prior to the installation of landscaping or irrigation, all topsoil graded areas shall be visually inspected and accepted by the owner and ITL.  5. Contractor shall adjust and/or cut existing pavement as necessary to assure a smooth fit and continuous grade. Contractor shall assure positive Contractor shall adjust and/or cut existing pavement as necessary to assure a smooth fit and continuous grade. Contractor shall assure positive drainage away from buildings for all natural and paved areas. 6. SUBGRADE PREPARATION: Prior to placement of new fill material, the existing subgrade  shall be proofrolled and approved under the direction of the SUBGRADE PREPARATION: Prior to placement of new fill material, the existing subgrade  shall be proofrolled and approved under the direction of the Geotechnical Engineer or his representative.  7. PROOFROLLING: Subsequent to completion of stripping and over-excavation, all building and pavement areas to receive engineered fill should be PROOFROLLING: Subsequent to completion of stripping and over-excavation, all building and pavement areas to receive engineered fill should be systematically proof-rolled using a tandem axle dump truck loaded to approximately 20,000 pounds per axle.  Also, any finished subgrade areas to receive paving shall be proof-rolled within 48 hours of paving.  Unsuitable soils that are detected and that can not be recompacted should be over-excavated and replaced with controlled structural fill.   8. EARTHWORK:  EARTHWORK:  A) GEOTECHNICAL:  All earthwork shall conform to the recommendations of the Geotechnical report.  Said report and its recommendations are herein  incorporated into the project requirements by reference. Prior to beginning construction, the contractor shall obtain a copy of and become incorporated into the project requirements by reference. Prior to beginning construction, the contractor shall obtain a copy of and become familiar with the geotechnical report.  Unless specifically noted on the plans, the recommendations in the geotechnical report are hereby incorporated into the project requirements and specifications. B) SURFACE WATER: Surface water shall be intercepted and diverted during the  placement of fill.   C) FILLS:  All fills shall be considered controlled or structural fill and shall be free of  vegetation, organic matter, topsoil and debris. In areas where thickness of the engineered fill is greater than five, feet building and pavement construction should not commence until so authorized by the on-site geotechnical engineer to allow for consolidation. D) EXISTING SLOPES: Where fill material is to be placed on existing slopes greater  than 5:1 (horizontal to vertical), existing slope shall be benched providing a minimum vertical face of twelve inches (12").  The benches should be cut wide enough to accommodate the compaction equipment.  Fill material shall be placed and compacted in horizontal lifts not exceeding nine inches (9") (loose lift measurement), unless otherwise approved by the Geotechnical Engineer.  E) COMPACTION REQUIREMENTS: The upper 9 inches of pavement subgrade areas shall be compacted to a minimum density of ninety five percent (95%) of the material's maximum dry density as determined by ASTM D698 (standard proctor compaction).  The moisture content at the time of placement  and compaction shall within a range of 0%  below to 4% above optimum moisture content as defined by the standard proctor and compaction shall within a range of 0%  below to 4% above optimum moisture content as defined by the standard proctor compaction procedure.  The moisture contents shall be maintained within this range until completion of the work.  Where compaction of earth fill by a large roller is impractical or undesirable, the earth fill shall be hand compacted with small vibrating rollers or mechanical tampers.  9.   All cut or fill slopes shall be 3:1 or flatter.  All asphalt parking areas shall be a minimum of 1% slope but not more than 5% slope unless  All cut or fill slopes shall be 3:1 or flatter.  All asphalt parking areas shall be a minimum of 1% slope but not more than 5% slope unless  otherwise noted.  All pavements within ADA parking areas shall not exceed 2% total slope.  All grades around building shall be held down 6"  from finish floor and slope away another 6" in 10 feet.  Contractor shall notify engineer prior to final subgrade construction of any areas not  within this slope requirement.   10.  TESTING AND INSPECTION: Owner's Independent Testing Laboratory (ITL) shall make tests of earthwork during construction and observe the   TESTING AND INSPECTION: Owner's Independent Testing Laboratory (ITL) shall make tests of earthwork during construction and observe the   placement of fills and other work performed on this project to verify that work has been completed in accordance with Geotechnical    Engineering Report, Project Specifications and within industry standards.  The ITL will be selected by the owner and the cost of testing will be  the owner's responsibility.  11.  CLASSIFICATION:  All excavation shall be considered unclassified.  No separate or additional payments shall be made for rock excavation. CLASSIFICATION:  All excavation shall be considered unclassified.  No separate or additional payments shall be made for rock excavation. 12.  SEEDING:  All areas disturbed by earthwork operations shall be seeded. SEEDING:  All areas disturbed by earthwork operations shall be seeded. 13.  UTILITIES:  The contractor is specifically cautioned that the location and/or elevation of existing utilities as shown on these plans is based on  UTILITIES:  The contractor is specifically cautioned that the location and/or elevation of existing utilities as shown on these plans is based on  records of the various utility companies, and where possible, measurements taken in the field.  The information is not to be relied on as being  exact or complete.  The contractor must call the appropriate utility companies at least 48 hours before any excavation to request exact field  location of utilities.  It shall be the responsibility of the contractor to relocate all existing utilities which conflict with the proposed    improvements shown on the plans. 14.  LAND DISTURBANCE:  The contractor shall adhere to all terms & conditions as outlined in the EPA or applicable state N.P.D.E.S. permit for  LAND DISTURBANCE:  The contractor shall adhere to all terms & conditions as outlined in the EPA or applicable state N.P.D.E.S. permit for  storm water discharge associated with construction activities. refer to project S.W.P.P.P. requirements.
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IRRIGATION NOTES:

1. IRRIGATION PLAN IS INCLUDED TO ILLUSTRATE THE IRRIGATION INTENT FOR

THIS PROJECT & NOT BE THE FINAL DESIGN OF THE SYSTEM.  FINAL

IRRIGATION DESIGN WILL BE COMPLETED AFTER CITY FDP APPROVAL.

2. LANDSCAPED AREAS ON THE SOUTH AND EAST SIDES OF THE CARE NOW

BUILDING HAVE AN EXISTING IRRIGATION SYSTEM THAT WILL REMAIN.

50' 100'25'12.5'0'

1"=50'SCALE:
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  IRRIGATION PLAN

417 DELAWARE STREET

KANSAS CITY, MISSOURI 64105

PH:  816.531.7227

LANDSCAPE ARCHITECT
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GWD

END VIEW
SCALE:  1/4” = 1’-0”

1
4
"

14"

1
0
"

10"

1” X 14” X 14” PLATE
7/8” HOLES

2” CENTER  HOLE
3/4” ANCHOR BOLTS

BASE PLATE DETAIL
SCALE:  1” = 1’-0”

GRAPHIC DETAIL
SCALE:  1/4” = 1’-0”

POLE COVER DETAIL
DESIGN FACTOR:  TBD
4MM CHARCOAL ACM POLE COVER
.080” ALUMINUM CAP AND SHROUD
EXTERIOR FINISH:
        POLE COVER - PRE-FINISHED
             CHARCOAL
        SHROUD AND BASE PLATE - MATCH
            B.M. 1631 MIDNIGHT OIL

CLEARANCE BAR DETAIL
BLACK ACM PIPE W/ 180-25  GOLD
VINYL STRIPES APPLIED 1ST SURFACE

SQUARE FEET:  BOXED = 163.56
                            ACTUAL = 20.22

18 GAUGE STEEL ARMS

14 GAUGE CHAIN

END CAP

BLACK ABS BAR

6” X 6” X 3/16” SQUARE TUBE

4MM ACM SKIN

.080” ALUMINUM SHROUD

BASE PLATE

FRONT VIEW
SCALE:  1/4” = 1’-0”
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 "1
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8
"

15'-4"
4'-11 7/16"4'-11 7/16"

1/4" ALUMINUM PANEL

1
'-
6
"

1'-5"

9".080” ALUMINUM CAP

3/4” ROUTED ALUMINUM LETTERS

18 GAUGE STEEL ARM

14 GAUGE CHAIN

BLACK ABS BAR

6” X 6” X 3/16” SQUARE TUBE

BASE PLATE

.080” ALUMINUM SHROUD

4MM ACM SKIN

HINGE

1/4" ALUMINUM PANEL

“DRIVE-THRU” LETTER DETAIL
3/4” ROUTED ALUMINUM LETTERS W/ 1ST
SURFACE VINYL DECORATION:
      180-25 GOLD - “DRIVE-THRU” COPY
      BLACK - COPY OUTLINE

SWING ARM DETAIL
DESIGN FACTOR:  TBD
18 GAUGE STEEL ARM WITH HINGE
W/ 1ST SURFACE PAINT AND VINYL 
DECORATION:
      MATCH PMS 123 C GOLD - SWING ARM
      7725-12 BLACK - “CLEARANCE 9 FEET”
            COPY

PANEL DETAIL
1/4” ALUMINUM PANEL  W/ 1ST SURFACE PAINT 
& VINYL DECO.:
      MATCH PMS 123 C GOLD - BACK-GROUND, 
        COPY & ARROW
      3630-22 BLACK - LANES

.080” ALUMINUM CAP

1” X 1” X 1/8” ALUMINUM ANGLE

ELEVATION
SCALE:  ½” = 1’-0”
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PLATE DETAIL
SCALE:  1/2 = 1'-0"

PLATE DETAIL
SCALE:  1/2 = 1'-0"

ISOMETRIC VIEW
SCALE:  NTS

GRAPHIC DETAIL
SCALE:  3/16 = 1'-0"

CROSS SECTION A-A
SCALE:  3/8” = 1'-0"

FRAME & LAMP DETAIL
SCALE:  3/8” = 1'-0"

Order Here
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16

28"
11"

4"

11"

18
"

11
" 8"11
"

18” X 28” X 1 1/4” PLATE
1 3/8” SLOTTED HOLES

1” BOLTS

11” X 11” X 5/8” PLATE
3/4” HOLES
5/8” BOLTS

Order Here

9'-4 3/16"
6'-9"11 3/16" NO. PART/DESCRIPTION

1 2" X 8" X 3/16" RECTANGULAR TUBE

2 2" X 6" X 1/4" RECTANGULAR  TUBE

3 2" X 4" X 1/4" RECTANGULAR TUBE

4 3" X 3" X 3/16" SQUARE TUBE

5 1" X 4" X 1/8" RECTANGULAR  TUBE

6 C4 ALUMINUM C-CHANNEL

7 1/2" EYEBOLTS (3)

8 11" X 11" X 5/8" TOP PLATES (2) (SEE PLATE DETAILS)

9 18" X 28" X 1 1/4" BASE PLATE (SEE PLATE DETAILS)

10 3" X 3" X 3/4" GUSSETS

11 .063" ALUMINUM SKIN

12 .063" ALUMINUM BENT SP10 SPEAKER BOX HOLDER

13 SPEAKER OPENING

14 .063" ALUMINUM BENT DM 4/DM 5 MICROPHONE BOX HOLDER

15 MICROPHONE OPENING

16 ACM CLADDING

17 SLOAN LED LIGHT WITH POWER SUPPLY

18 REFLECTIVE WHITE 680-10 VINYL

19 ADA STICKER

NOTES:

- DESIGN FACTOR:  TO BE DETERMINED

- 2" X 8" X 3/16 RECTANGULAR TUBE FRAME

- ACM AND .063" ALUMINUM SKIN

- EXTERIOR FINISH:

     BASE PLATE - PAINT BM 1631 MIDNIGHT OIL

     TUBE AND TOP ACM - PAINT CHARCOAL

     SPRINGBOARD TIP AND UNDERSIDE - PAINT PMS 123 C GOLD

- ACM/SKIN REMOVABLE FOR SERVICE

- U.L. LISTED

- ELECTRICAL:  0.64 AMPS/120 VOLTS

MCDONALD'S SPRINGBOARD OHC SPECIFICATIONS
OHC
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RADIUS LED WALL SCONCE

Ordering Information Ordering Example: RWSC - XXL - XK - XX - U - XX - XX

RWSC
Series

RWSC Radius Wall 
Sconce

The RWSC LED radius wall sconce series offers a combination of light 
distributions that wash the building facade while the radial soft form housing 
accentuates building architectural design elements in all commercial and 
residential applications. 

The RWSC LED provides excellent illumination with a high efficiency LED 
light source of 72 or 36 mid power LEDS that deliver up to 2,835 lumens and 
up to 109 lumens per watt.

The RWSC LED fixture has become a building standard and is stocked as a 
quick ship item in many colors and distributions.

Dimensions

Features

A B C

7.25" 18.0" 9.0"

Voltage

U Universal 120/277V

# of LED's

36L1 36 Mid-Power LED's

72L2 72 Mid-Power LED's

• Durable cast aluminum housing
• Available in various lighting distributions for maximum versatility
• Integrated design eliminates high angle brightness
• Luminaire finished in weatherproof powder-coat paint
• Completely sealed, flat tempered glass lenses, UL listed for use in wet

locations
• DLC, Downlight only, full cut-off
• Dark Sky compliant, Downlight only

Operating Temperature
• -30°C to 40°C

Electrical:
• Dimming is an option (consult factory)

Mounting 
RWSC features Intelligent Mounting Bracket which helps save time and 
money by allowing only one person to easily install. The small mounting 
bracket is very user friendly and features an integrated level bubble on the 
bracket ensuring fixture installation will always be perfect.

A

B C

Options

PC Photocontrol

CCT

3K 3000K

5K 5000K

Distribution

DO Down only

UD Up/Down

Finish

DB Dark Bronze

WH White

BK Black

PS Platinum Silver

RA RAL Color4

CC Custom Color5

Certifications/Listings

1 36L Only available in DO distribution
2 72L Only available in UD distribution
3 One remote inverter required to operate every 8 down only or 5 

up/down fixtures requiring EM operation
4 Must provide RAL color at time of ordering
5 Must provide color sample at time of ordering

Accessories

LG125T Remote Emergency Inverter (grid 
mount only)3

LG125S Remote Emergency Inverter 
(surface mount only)3

Quick Ship:

RWSC36LU5KDOBK

RWSC36LU5KDOWH

RWSC36LU5KDODB

RWSC36LU5KDOPS

RWSC72L5KUDUWH

RWSC72LU5KUDBK

RWSC72LU5KUDDB

RWSC72LU5KUDPS
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CATALOG NUMBER EXAMPLE: LB6LEDA10L30K WH

TRIM LED COLOR CRI TRIM TRIM COLOR _ ACCESSORIES

Aperture: Nominal 6"
See Housing Specification Sheet for ceiling 

cutout requirements
Not to Scale

Wall Wash - LB6LEDA10L35K9WW WH

APPLICATIONS: 
LiteBox LED modules are designed for use in new 
construction as well as retrofit applications with 
existing Prescolite or competitive 6” housings. 
Lumen output and distribution comparable to 
a 75W PAR while consuming only 12 watts. 
ENERGY STAR® qualified. Can be used to comply 
with California Title 24 IECC watts per square 
foot requirements. Suitable for use with continuous 
room side ambient temperature up to 25ºC. 
Flicker-free dimming to 15% with most standard 
dimmers. (See Dimming Notes).

LIGHT ENGINE:
High efficacy LED light engine, 3000K, 3500K
and 5000K, 90+ CRI, integrated with durable 
aluminum heat sink for excellent thermal 
management. System designed for optimal life and 
lumen maintenance (60,000 hours at 70% lumen 
maintenance per TM-21).

LENS/REFLECTOR: 
All LiteBox LED modules are provided standard 
with a diffuse optical grade acrylic lens for 
uniform illumination and superior glare control. 
Reflector powder coat finish creates aesthetic 
ceiling appearance and visually comfortable 55° 
cutoff.

LED DRIVER:

Integral high efficiency LED driver 120V, >0.9 
power factor, dimmable to 15% with standard 
incandescent or electronic low voltage dimmers. 
(See Dimming Notes for recommended dimmers.) 
Output over-voltage, over-current, and short circuit 
protection. Life expectancy of 60,000 hours
minimum at recommended ambient temperatures.  

INSTALLATION:
For New Construction: Use with Prescolite DBX 
QuickLink LED housings. QuickLink connector 
mates directly to housing connector without 
a screw base adapter for California Title 24 
compliance.

For Retrofit: Use in Prescolite or other compatible 
6” recessed housings using supplied screw base 
adapter.  

Easy installation with (3) stainless steel spring clips 
(pre-installed).

CERTIFICATIONS:
UL/cUL Classified for use in Prescolite or other 
6" recessed housings including Halo, Juno, and 
Lithonia. (See page 3 for more details) Suitable 
for wet locations. ENERGY STAR qualified. Meets 
California Title 24 with DBXQL 

WARRANTY: 
5 year warranty
Additional information on page 3
See www.prescolite.com for details. 

XX XX/XX/XX ECO-XXXX XXX XXX

D
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B

A

128 7 6 5 4 3 2

D

C

B

A

128 7 6 5 4 3

This document contains confidential and proprietary information of Progress
Lighting. Receipt or possession of this document does not convey any rights
to reproduce or disclose its contents, or to make, use , or sell anything it may
disclose. Reproduction, disclosure, or use of the document or its contents,
without the specific written authorization of Progress Lighting, may violate the
intellectual property rights of Progress Lighting.

UNSPECIFED TOLERANCES:  INCHES
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❑ LB6LEDA10L
6"1000 Lumen
Litebox LED
Module with
dimming to
15% 120V

❑ 30K
3000 Kelvin

❑ 35K
3500 Kelvin

❑ 50K
5000 Kelvin

❑ Blank
80+ CRI

❑ 9
90+ CRI

❑ Blank
Open

❑ WW
Wall Wash

❑ WH
White

❑ BL
Black

❑ SA
Silver Anodized

❑ GD 
Gold

❑ LiteGear1

Inverter, single phase central lighting,
125VA-250VA

❑ LPS Series1

LitePower micro-inverter, 20VA-55VA
❑ DBXQL

IC/Non-IC Airtight housing with
supply wire quick connects

❑ IBXSQL
IIC/Non-IC Airtight shallow housing
with supply wire quick connects

1 See Central Inverter compatibility note and web links on page 2. 
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LB6LEDA10L
LED Downlight Module (1038 Lumens)

12W High Efficacy
Wet Location

120V  

Type F12G
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EL218 
MICRO-FLOOD LED 

VWH Vivid White 

VWH Vivid White 

TYPE FL1
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SLED
High Efficiency Linear LED Facade Fixture

Ordering Information Ordering Example: S - LED - XX - DO - U - XX

S
Series

SL Linear Facade Fixture

HE
Type

HE High Efficiency

Size

48 4-foot

36 3-foot

24 2-foot

Finish

PS Platinum Siilver

DB Dark Bronze 4

WH White 4

BL Black 4

RL RAL color 1,4

CC Custom Color 2,4

DO
Distribution

DO Down Light Only
(8.5 watts per foot)

U
Voltage

U Universal 122 
- 277 Volts

LED
Source

LED Mid-
Powered5

The SLED Linear LED Lighting System offers a discrete and minimalist 
design to maximize the lighting effect for marketing your
building as your brand while keeping energy usage and maintenance
to a minimum.

Thanks to its intuitive “plug and play” mounting design with integral
driver system, installation is quick and simple and only requires that
power be brought to one fixture in each continuous row. The unique
fixture design and the long life Mid-Power LED source minimizes 
maintenance to only an occasional cleaning of outer lens surfaces. This 
successful system is truly a “set it and forget it” solution that is only 
offered from Security Lighting

Specifications

Features

Dimensions

• 80 CRI
• Down only full cut off
• Extruded aluminum construction, finished in weather proof powder

coat paint
• Tempered glass lens
• Fully integrated driver for completely self-contained lighting system
• Aluminum mounting brackets are finished in powder-coat paint and

conceal power cables
• Each order ships with a formed drilling template for accurate and

quick installation
• Power feed required only at beginning of each continuous row or

stand alone fixture.
• All subsequent fixtures quickly plug together in series and fixtures

are not opened during the installation process fixture to fixture
connections are made external to the fixture

• Complete instructions for fixture installation posted on web site at
www.secuirtylighting.com

24", 36", 48"

Accessories - Must order Separately

93073538 Hiraf - LED Whip Kit/ power feed assembly.
One required per stand alone fixture or linear run for use with Hiraf HE 3

1. Must provide RAL color number and powder coat manufacture name at time of quote request
2. Color paint chip would need to be provided at time of quote request
3. Must only use factory supplied whip kit to maintain water tight integrity and product warranty.
4. Made to order, 4 to 8 week lead time
5. 5000K color temperature standard

Consult factory for 4000K and 3000K availability

 TYPE SLED4-HE
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Memo 
To:    City of Leawood Planning Commission 

From:    Mark A. Klein, Planning Official 

CC:    Richard Coleman, Director of Community Development 

Date of Meeting: July 23, 2019 

Date of Memo:  July 17, 2019 

Re: Case 60-19, Leawood Development Ordinance Amendment to Section 16-3-4 
Development Plan Approval Process   **PUBLIC HEARING** 

This amendment proposes to remove a Leawood Development Ordinance (LDO) requirement related to a change 
of use, or impact to parking, pedestrian ways or amenities, from the original Final Development Plan approval. 

Currently, the LDO requires that an amended Preliminary Plan and Final Plan for the entire development be 
recorded when a change of use, or impact to parking, pedestrian ways or other amenities occur, which differ from 
the original development plan. The LDO also requires that the applicant be granted permission from all owners of 
lots directly adjacent to the proposed project in order to pursue the application. 

This ordinance amendment proposes to remove the requirement that a revised Preliminary Plan and Final Plan for 
the entire development be recorded when these changes occur, but would still require a Preliminary Plan and Final 
plan for the proposed project site be approved. The amendment also proposes to remove the requirement that 
adjacent property owners must grant permission for a project to be pursued. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

City of Leawood  

Planning Services 
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16-3-4 DEVELOPMENT PLAN APPROVAL PROCESS 

A “Development Plan” shall consist of both a preliminary and final development plan approved as provided 
in this Article.  No construction of a structure or commencement of a use, or change or alteration in a use, 
structure or site, requiring a development plan shall be authorized until approval of the final development 
plan.  Approval of the preliminary development plan shall be considered an act of rezoning subject to the 
procedural requirements for rezoning as set forth in Article 5, except as provided herein.  A final 
development plan is intended only to provide final additional details or minor changes but shall otherwise 
conform to the approved preliminary development plan. 

The minimum steps required for approval of a Development Plan approval required by this Article are 
summarized as follows: 

A) Application for preliminary development plan (Section 16-3-5) 

B) Notice and public hearing before the Planning Commission (Section 16-5-3) 

C) Recommendation on preliminary development plan by the Planning Commission 

D) Governing Body enacts ordinance approving or approving with conditions the preliminary 
development plan or denies the plan  

E) Submission of Final Development Plan to the Planning Commission 

F) Approval of Final Development Plan: 

1) No changes or minor changes – approval by the Planning Commission and review by the 
Governing Body for final approval, conditional approval, or denial in accordance with voting 
procedures for preliminary plan approval. 

2) Substantial changes – submission of new preliminary development plan and repeat of 
development plan process. 

G) Once a Preliminary and Final Development Plan has been approved for a development, each lot will be 
required to receive preliminary site plan and/or final site plan approval prior to construction.  However, 
in cases where the proposed improvements: 

1) Involve a use not included in the original Final Development Plan Approval; or  

2) Impact parking, pedestrian ways or other amenities included in the original Final Development Plan 
Approval 

then an Amended Preliminary and Final Plan for the entire development will be required.  The Applicant 
shall provide proof acceptable to the City that the owners of all lots directly adjacent to the proposed 
improvements have granted permission to the Applicant to pursue the application.  The required proof 
of permission from all adjacent lots shall not be required if the Applicant has applied for Community 
Improvement District financing and received approval from the Governing Body to pursue plan approval 
without the required permissions. 

(Ord. 2808 11-01-2016) 



Memo 
To:    City of Leawood Planning Commission 

From:    Mark A. Klein, Planning Official 

CC:    Richard Coleman, Director of Community Development 

Date of Meeting: July 23, 2019 

Date of Memo:  July 8, 2019 

Re: Case 71-19, Leawood Development Ordinance Amendment to Section 16-4-6.3 Office, 
Commercial and Industrial Signage in Planned Districts   **PUBLIC HEARING** 

This amendment proposes to allow a deviation for an individual sign to also apply to the private sign standards for 
the commercial development, when approved by Governing Body. 

Section 16-4-6.3 (B) allows the Governing Body to approve deviations in size, color, location, number of signs, and 
illumination, after recommendation by the Planning Commission. Rather than the deviation applying only to the 
individual sign brought before the Planning Commission and Governing Body, this amendment proposes to allow 
the deviation to amend the signage standards for the development, which will affect all tenants within the 
development. This amendment will provide greater consistency between signage within the development, and 
apply equally to all tenants. 
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16-4-6   SIGN REGULATIONS 

16-4-6.1  Statement of Intent 

The Governing Body finds that unregulated proliferation of signs results in visual clutter, which is harmful 
to neighborhood aesthetics and property values and may cause traffic hazards.  The provisions of these 
Sign Regulations are intended to regulate and control all signs in the City of Leawood.  It is the intent to 
limit visual clutter and reach a level of aesthetic quality by reducing disharmony in signage and to establish 
a sign identity and promote traffic safety for Leawood by limiting the size, type, location and materials of 
which signs may be constructed.  These regulations are enacted to protect the property values in the City 
by enhancing the physical appearance of the City and by authorizing the use of signs that are compatible 
with their surroundings. 

16-4-6.2  Applicability 

A sign may be erected, placed, established, created, or maintained in the city only in conformance with the 
standards, procedures, exemptions, and other requirements of this Ordinance.  Signs are permitted only 
as provided in Tables 16-4-6.13, 16-4-6.14, and 16-4-6.15, and subject to the further regulations set forth 
in this Article and as otherwise provided by law.  All other signs are prohibited. 

16-4-6.3  Office, Commercial and Industrial Signage in Planned Districts 

For purposes of these regulations, the terms shopping center, business park, office park, industrial park or 
other grouping of buildings shall mean a project of one or more buildings with two or more tenants that has 
been planned as an integrated development or cluster on property under unified control or ownership at 
the time that zoning was approved by the City.  No permit shall be issued for an individual sign unless and 
until Sign Development Standards have been submitted to and approved by the Governing Body after 
recommendation by the Planning Commission.  

A) Sign Standards:  The developer shall prepare a set of sign standards regulating all signage.  Such 
standards shall run with the land with all leases or sales of portions of the development.  The sale, 
subdivision or other partition of the site after the zoning approval does not exempt the project or 
portions thereof from complying with these regulations.  The size, color, materials, styles of 
lettering, type of illumination and location shall be set out in such standards.  The Final 
Development Plan shall include the Sign Development Standards and be approved as part of the 
Final Development Plan. These standards may be revised by resubmitting them to the Governing 
Body for approval after recommendation by the Planning Commission.  

Sign Development Standards for a Planned District shall meet all requirements of this Ordinance 
and are subject to the limitations set forth herein and shall maintain the following as conditions of 
approval and acceptance:  

1) The Development sign standards, once approved, represent a firm commitment by the 
developer that development will indeed follow the approved plans. 
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2) The sign concept is to be planned and developed in a manner that will result in clear, 
readable, effective signage. 

3) The developer may be given latitude in using innovative techniques in the development of 
sign concepts. 

4) No permit shall be issued for an individual sign in a planned district unless and until Sign 
Development Standards for the development have been submitted to the Governing Body 
for approval after recommendation by the Planning Commission and the sign is otherwise 
in conformance with the Standards and with this Ordinance.  Provided, however, that 
signs that conform with both the City approved Sign Development Standards for the 
applicable development and the sign requirements of this Ordinance may be permitted via 
a sign permit granted by the Director of Community Development per Section 16-4-6.14 
of this Ordinance.  In the event any ambiguity exists as to whether a sign conforms to 
either the City approved Sign Development Standards for the applicable development or 
the sign requirements of this Ordinance, or the Director otherwise denies the request for 
permit, then the applicant may apply for sign approval by the Governing Body after 
recommendation of the Planning Commission.   

B) Deviation From Requirements:  Deviations in size, colors, location, number of signs, and 
illumination, may be approved by the Governing Body after recommendation by the Planning 
Commission if it is deemed that an equal or higher quality of development will be produced.  The 
City may, in the process of approving sign concepts, approve deviations from the standard 
requirements as follows, provided any deviation so approved shall be in keeping with the intent of 
this Ordinance, shall be clearly set out in the minutes as well as on exhibits in the record, and 
provided that specific reasons justifying deviations are included in the record.  The following 
deviations may be granted: 

1) In commercial districts if private sign standards have been approved as part of the Final 
Development Plan, then deviations from this Ordinance and/or from the private sign 
standards as listed above may be approved.  If the Governing Body approves a deviation 
from the private sign standards, then the and the private sign standards shall be deemed 
amended; provided, in all cases, the maximum of all wall and canopy signs shall be 5% of 
the total area of the façade, 200 square feet, whichever is less, or as permitted in Table 
16-4-6.13. 

2) Directory Signs may be permitted that are scaled to pedestrian traffic. 

3) One sign for a subtenant may be permitted per primary tenant provided that all of the 
following apply: 

a. The primary tenant’s gross floor area shall be a minimum of 25,000 sq.ft. 

b. The subtenant sign is necessary to identify a subtenant that has a presence within 
the tenant space, but does not have a separate entrance into the primary tenant 
space. 

c. Signage shall be limited to the identification of the subtenant and shall not identify 
phone numbers, product, specific services offered or any other information about the 
tenant beyond the name and/or logo of the subtenant. 
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d. The maximum height of the subtenant sign shall be 75% of the maximum letter height 
of the primary tenant. 

(Ord. 2523, 02-28-2012) 
(Ord. 2748, 09-29-2015) 
(Ord. 2850, 07-25-2017) 

16-4-6.4  Design, Construction, and Maintenance 

All signs shall be designed, constructed, and maintained in accordance with the following standards: 

A) Except for flags, temporary signs, informational signs, and window signs conforming in all 
respects with the requirements of this Ordinance, all signs shall be constructed of permanent 
materials and shall be permanently attached to the ground, a building, or another structure by 
direct attachment to a rigid wall, frame, or other structure. 

B) All signs shall be maintained: a) in good structural condition; b) in compliance with all building and 
electrical codes; c) in conformance with this Ordinance, at all times. 

C) Except for informational signs, no long-term temporary sign (to be used longer than 10 days) shall 
be constructed of solely paper type products (including cardboard), and must be made of a 
durable material. 

16-4-6.5  Permits Required 

A) Permits Required.  Except as provided by this Ordinance, or by other ordinance or resolution of 
the city, it shall be unlawful for any person to erect, construct, alter, relocate or convert any sign or 
other advertising structure as defined herein, without first obtaining a sign permit from the 
Planning and Development Department after payment of the required fee.  Furthermore, the 
property owner shall maintain in force, at all times, a sign permit for such sign in accordance with 
these regulations.  No sign permit of any kind shall be issued for an existing or proposed sign 
unless such sign is consistent with the requirements of this Ordinance in every respect and with 
the Sign Development Standards in effect for the property. 

1) Applications for sign permits shall be made upon the forms provided by the Planning and 
Development Department. 

2) One set of plans drawn to scale indicating the sign location on a site plan, sign size, 
method of illumination, colors, materials of the sign and method of attachment are 
required. 

3) The applicant shall submit any other information deemed necessary by the Director of 
Planning and Development.  

B) Permit Fees.  Every applicant, before being granted a permit, shall pay a fee as established by the 
Governing Body.  For any sign erected or placed without a permit, the fee shall be double the 
established fee. 

C) Permit Issued If Application Is In Order.  It shall be the duty of the Director, upon receipt of an 
application for a sign permit, to review the application and to conduct such other investigation as 
is necessary to determine the accuracy of the application.  If it appears that the applicant has 
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